; g Loyola University Chicago
R Loyola eCommons
Master's Theses Theses and Dissertations

1951

The Caribbean Lands and the American
Revolution

Consuela Mary McKee
Loyola University Chicago

Recommended Citation

McKee, Consuela Mary, "The Caribbean Lands and the American Revolution” (1951). Master's Theses. Paper 1127.
http://ecommons.luc.edu/luc_theses/1127

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Theses and Dissertations at Loyola eCommons. It has been accepted for inclusion in

Master's Theses by an authorized administrator of Loyola eCommons. For more information, please contact ecommons@luc.edu.

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-Noncommercial-No Derivative Works 3.0 License.
Copyright © 1951 Consuela Mary McKee



http://ecommons.luc.edu
http://ecommons.luc.edu/luc_theses
http://ecommons.luc.edu/td
mailto:ecommons@luc.edu
http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/
http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/
http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/

THE CARIBBEAN LANDS AND THE AMERICAN REVOLUTION

by
Consuela Mary lcKee

A Thesis Submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School
of Loyola Univergity in Partial Fulfillment of

the Requirements for the Degree of

Master of Arts

June
1951




LIFE

Consuela Mary McKee was born in Ghicagm; Illinois,
Hovember 16' 1919,

She waa graduated fram the Academy of Our Lady High
8chool, Ghicago, Illinoia, June, 1937, and from Chicago Teachers
College, February, 1942, with the degree of Bachelor of Education}

Upon.graduatian; the author began teaching in the
Chicago elementary schools. Taking late afternoon clasaea; she

began her graduate study at Loyola University in March, 1943.




Chapter
ICINTROBUCTIOHQottcboloc.oooctto

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Purpoese of this study--A brief historical backe
ground of the West Indies.,

II, THE ROLE OF ST. EUSTATIUS ¢« o ¢ o ¢ ¢ o = o ¢ « «

The need of the colonists for supplies and gune-
powder-~Location of St. Eustatiug~--Growing trade
through St. Eustatius--Means of communication
with representatives in Europe--Exportation of
military supplies to the American armies-~Salute
of the Dorig~-Declaration of war between
England and Holland--Surrender of St. Eustatius
to Lord Hodney~-~Looting of the island by Rodney-~
DeGrasse eludes Rodney-~3t. Hustatius retaken by
the French,

III, THE ROLE OF THE FRENGH WEST INDIES IN DETERMINING

FRENGH POLI-CY, 1775“1781 » & 5 % s 5 ° ¢ s s & @

A brief history of Hispaniola--Importance to
Prance~--Fear of a possible British attack--Early
contacts with the colonists--Fear of British
brings an alliance between France and the
colonists-~Provisions of the boundary treaty=-
Attitude of "watchful waiting"--Desire to pro-
mote commerce between the United States and
France--Importance of Saint Domingue in the plan
of secret aid-~Saint Domingue used as a base by
foreign volunteers--Base of operations for the
French fleet--iole of Saint Domingue in the peace
negotlations,

Page

11




v

IVe PREUCH AID TO THE COLOHIES 4 o ¢ ¢ o ¢ 2 ¢ o 4 o o 74

Official motives for French interventione-3pain's
opportunity to safeguard her American interestge
Secret aid only solution-~-Beaumarchais’s planew
Difficulties and dangers of secret aid--Jealousy
of Doctor Dubourg and Arthur Lee--Beaumarchais's
notiveg~-Treaty of alliance--Treaty of amity and
aomnerte,

V. FRENCH NAVAL ACTION 1IN TIH WidT IHDIES o o« o ¢« o « 100

Action of the French fleet under Count D'Egtainge-
The cormand of Count de Juichene=-The [leet under
the Count Delrasse--Action of the French fleet in
the VWest Indles.

Yi. THE KOLE OF ﬁi?: FUUHCH wWEST MiDLAN FLEET 1N THE SUlM-
REHDEL AT YJOUKTOUWR o ¢« » o ¢ ¢ o o o s # o« o » 3 # 112

Efforts of the Count De(rassew--(linton's conlusion-
~iodney's preoccupation at St. Bustatius--British
failure to guess Franco-iAnmerican plans--Haval
batile off the shores of Virginiae-Graves's {leet
in need of repair--Cornwallis's plea for helpwe
British discord--Cornwallis forced to swrendeprew
French view of the campaign--Causes of the surren-
der,

VII, THE TREATY OF PARIS, 1783 ¢ o o ¢ ¢ s o ¢ s s ¢ o » 139

Secret of American puccess-~Other countries affected
by the treaty--legotiation with the Dutche-French
and Spanish treaties--ilecognition of American ine
dependence~-ilelations of France and the United
States.

JIXIW CONCLUSIUHS o o # ¢ o o ¢« ¢ % 5 5 % ¢ o ¢ ¢ s o & 145
Summary

DIBLIOGEATHY o o o @ ¢ % % 6 & ¢« 5 2 8 8 5 ¢ 3 5 s ¢ & o 149




: - 111

€ mesd ashs\

«d&wx?g Q

e

————

O
?
i
.
§
H
?




CHAPTER I
INTRODUCTION

This astudy was made for the purpose of investigating th
part played by the colonies in the Caribbean area in the revolt ej
the thirteen British coloniea of our Atlantic seaboard from the
mother country. The Spanish; French; and Dutch possessions of thej
west Indies and the British colonies had important commercial
products., They were far from the direct control of their respec-
tive mother countries and were in the Américan scene. This paper
fwill attempt to show precisely how much and in what manner gome of)
these colonies helped or hindered the North American revolutione
aries.

The lack of material and the limitation of space and
time have narrowed this study to the influence of St. Eustatiua;
the role of the French West Indies, the action of the French uest
Indian fleet; and the aid, both secret and open, sent by France to
#he North American calonista; without which the Kevolution would
fhave failed.

A brief historical background of the West Indies is

hecessary to the underapanding of the situation.

1
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Near the end of the sixteenth century Sir Richard Gren-
viile and Sir Walter Raleigh; and a little later Captain John
smith and athers; in the hunt for eligible sites for coloniea;
paid special attention for awhile to the Orinoco regian; lured
partly by the enticing legends of El Dorado. In their wanderings
from South to North America, where they founded the Virginia
colony; they were wont to pause among the Caribees, and they did
Pot forget the prospect for colonizing thegeabouta. Such advene
turous spirits had no respect for.the Spanish title of possession
lor fear of the native inhabitants. For a tima; however, English-
nen were kept busy in Guiana and after the turn of the century on

the North American coast at Virginia and New England. The French

ad made rough beginnings still farther north in Canada and had
tean feeding an appetite for possessions in newly discovered lands}
They grew desirous of a share in the tropical islands with whose
[charms the corsairs had already made intimate acquaintahee. The
Pletherlands had begun operations with a trading company which
firat took possession where now the e¢ity of New York stands.
Dutch smugglera had long been prowling about the Spanish islands
pith a special headquarters in the island of St. Eustatius, from

hich they were driven, only to return, A so~called admiral of

he Dutch took San Juan de Puerto Rico in 1615, but was killed for
is pains and no advantage came of it, In 1621 the Dutch West

India Company was incorporated, which had colonizing, as well as




trading, purposea.l

The Spanish colonigzation had been confined virtually to
the Greater Antilles., A few settlers had taken possession of the
islands adjacent to the Spanish Main; including Trinidad and Cura-
cao. They were practically left undisturbed in Trinidad until
near the close of the eighteenth century, except for the unceremo-
jnious call of Sir Walter Raleigh two hundred years before. The
Dutch, whoge title was altogether one of conquest (acquired during
the war between Spain and the Eﬁtherlands); captured Curacao and
its neighboring islands; Buenes Alres and'Aruba; in 163&; and
slowly colonized them, Spain retained the rest of what she called
the "Sotavento;“ or Leeward; group of 1alands; the finest of which
was Margarita; until they went with Venezuela upon the achievement
of her independence.z

‘The first official English gettlement in the Vest Indieg
was made in 1624 by Sir Thomas Warner and his associates., They
first took possession of the island of St. Christopher, extending
their claim to Nievea; which was close by, and which was Anglie

¢ized into Nevis., At this time there was one of those French

1 Amos Kidder Fiske, The West Indies, New York, 1899,
72-73,
2 M’s 73-
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adventurers generally called corsairs, by the name of Esnambuc;
prowling around. In a tussle with a Spanish galleon which he had
failed to capture; his vessel was crippled, and he put in at
St. Christopher for repairs. The English and French were then on
friendly terms, and as Warner was having a hard time with the
natives, he struck a bargain with Esnambuc for a combination
against the Caribs and an equitable division of the island. This
was in 1625, They had a hard strugrle with the pagans, who per-
sigted in trying to hold their own, but finally succeeded in
quelling; killing; and driving them out. In 1629, the Spanish
from Hispanicla; who regarded this as an intrusion upon their
neglected preserves, made an unexpected visit and broke up the
settlements, driving the colonists away. St. Christopher was al-
ways called the "Mother Colony" by the English and the "Mere
d'Antillea™ by the Ffench. When the colonists returned after the
first expulsion, England and France were having a quarrel, and
each claimed exclusive possession. The island passed from one to
the other several times, and was finally confirmed to Great
Britain.>

The French refugees of 1629 from St. Kitt's; as it came

irreverently to be called, joined with other outcasts and

Nellis M, Crouse, French Pioneers in the West Indies,

3
1624166k, New York, 1940, 10-35,
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adventurers to seize upon the small island of Tortuga near the
north-western extremity of Haiti., This piratical island was the
means of finally wresting all the western part of Hispaniola from
Spain, 3ir Thomas warner's‘cclonists; who Qere recruited from
time to time; had strayed over to Barbuda in 1628; and some who
were asgociated with him were among the pettlers of Barbados even
earlier; though the main colony there came out from England in
1625. In 1532; Warner took possession of Antigua and Mantéarrat;
but a formidable rival was looming up. After the death of James 3
the aham<alliance)with Spain was ended;.and in 1627, King Charles
presumed to grant the whole range of the Caribees to the Earl of
Carlisle. This led‘to conflicting claims; till the Cromwell re-
gime intervened to suspend them. Antigua, Barbuda, and some of
the other northern islands were uninhabited when first taken; and

others were the resort of smugglers and freebooters with whom

[these waters were infested. The infant aalanies'first planted
ere did not thrive; and after the Restoration a new settlement
taa made in Antigua under Lord Willoughby (to whom the island was
anted by Charles II); and the Earl of Carlisle. In 1680; Bar-

uda was given to the Codrington family.“

b Fiske, The Kest Indies, 75.
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Duteh settlers took possession of St. Eustatius in 1635
and; although it did not escape attack in the wars which follawed;
that and the neighboring island of Saba were finally confirmed in
the possession of Holland, Dutch smﬁgglers were the first to
occupy Tortola; but they were not colonists, and were succeeded
by some English Quakers who held peaceful posaession; but were
ruined by emancipating their slaves. St. Martin in 1638 was a
headquarters for French rovers, or corsairs, but the Dutch gmug~
glers divided its possession with them, and in 1638 an amicable
division of the island between French and Dutch was effected, Thq
same year French colonists settled in St. Bartholomew. All this
northern. part of the Lesser Antilles was aparsely peopled and
feebly held by the aborigines, and after one or two spasmodic
effarts Spain gave up all attempt to exclude other nations from
them,?

Early in the seventeenth eentury; Spain's exclusive
right to posgsession in the YWest Indies came to be seriously cone
tested, By 1658 the Pope formally gave up the problem and in 1670
claims were abandoned by Spain heraelf., For nearly two centuries
there was almost continuous war in which one or the other of the

colonizing powers was engaged, There were frequent contests for

5 MQ '3 75""76-




7
the possession of these ialanda; egpecially those of the Lesser
Antilles: As we have already seen, some of the original colonies
were established by conquest.6
The nine years truce ended in 1613; and hostilities werd
renewed between Spain and the Netherlands. England made a treaty
with the latter power in 1625 which brought her into conflict with
Spain again. It was in 1629 that the Spanish fleet made the ate
tack upon St. Christopher and drove out both English and French
settlers, In 1632 the Dutch took Tobago, and in 1634, Curacao.
After the French took nominal possession of Guadeloupe, Dcminica;
and Martinique in 1635; France was at war with Spain; which had
previously made peace with England. In 1638 the Spanish made a
descent upon St. martin; which was jointly occupied by the French
and Dutch; and took forcible possession. It was afterwards re=-
covered and formal division of the island between Dutch and French
was made in 1648, Although Spain and England were nominally at
peace in 1638; an English expedition attacked and plundered the
town of Santiago de la Vega in Jamaica. In retaliation a Spanish

fleet from Havana cleared out the infant settlement at NHew Provie

dence in the,ﬁahamas.7

6 Ibid., 92.
7 ZIbid., 92-93.
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During the Commonwealth, the royalist sentiment was
strong in the British West Indies, There was almost a revolt
under Governor Willoughby in Barbados; but a fleet came out with
Admiral Ayscue and settled the treuble; incidentally capturing
some Dutch vessels on the way. Cromwell adopted a vigorous policy
in dealing with the pretensions of Spain; and it was at this time
that the fleet was sent against Hispaniola and compromised by
capturing Jamaica; which Spain tried in vain to recover in 1658,
There was a treaty of peace between France and Spain in 1660, Thd
restoration of Charles Il also brought peace between Ingland and
Francej but in 1665 England fell out with the Dutch, who were
joined the next year by France. Then the English and French in
St. Kitt's took to fighting, The French got the upper hand and
drove the English eut; but a fleet came up from Barbados and
reversed the process, At the same time the French captured Antiw‘
gua and Montserrat, but by the treaty of Breda in 1667 they were
restored to England, and the old division of St. Kitt's was re=
lestablished.s Trouble kept up for some years with privateering and

plundering upon the thriving trade of the Dutch, No further
hanges of possession among the iglands took place until the war

etween France and Holland in 1688, when the accession of William
of Orange brought England into the contest on the Dutch side. The

French again drove the Engligh out of 3t, Kitt's and seized St,

Bustatius, while the English made unsuccessful attacks upon
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Guadeloupe. The peace of Ryswick, 1697, restored the old condi~
tion, the Duteh retaining St. Hustatius and the French and Englisl]
still dividing St. Christopher.® |

From 1702 to 1715 there was a war; with England and
Holland on one side and France and Spain on the other., Much
privateering and plundering went on; but there was no change‘of
territorial goasession; except that the English drove the French
out of St, Kitt's this time. By the treaty of Utrecht the island
was finally ceded to Great Britaine. Jacques Caasard; the famous
French corsair, in the guise of a patriotic privateer, captured
St. Eustatius and Curacao; but only for the purpose of extorting
a ransom, There was a fierce contest between France and England
for the possession of the Carilbees during the Seven Years' War
from 1756 to 1763, 1In the meantime;'SPain and Holland had been
losing prestige and were no longer rated as formidable powera.g

It was in this contest between France and England that
Admiral Rodney and Sir Samuel Hood first came to the front as
British naval commanders, At the beginning, the French were in

possession of all the southern Caribees, leaving Barbados and

8 Mo. 93"'9‘#*
9 Ibid., 9%.
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Trinidad out of the catepory. The English capturéd Guadeloupe in
1759; before the arrival of the home fleet, and held it till the
end of the war. Rodney sailled from Barbados for Martinique in
January, 1762, with eighteen ships of the line and a considerable
force of goldiers, The island capitulated, and the conquest was
followed up with that of Grenada; Dominica; Tobago, Ste Vincent;
and Ste Lucia in succession, 3paln was involved in the quarrel
at the time; and in May; 1762; Admiral Pococke laid seige to
Havana, In a month Morro Castle was reduead; and soon after the
Governor-General of Cuba capitulated when Lord Albemarle took
possesasion with land farces. These naval victories contributed
powerfully to the peace of Pebruary, 1763, By the treaty of
Paris; Guadelaupe; Martinique, and 5t, lLucia were restored o
France, and Cuba was left to apain 1n exchange for rlorida, while
Dominica, 3t. Vincent, Grenada, and Tobago were ceded to Greal
[Britaine.

The next ¢-ntest for the possession of islands in the
L.esser Antilles came after France had Jjoined the United 3States in

1778 in their struggle for independence from Great Eritain.lo

lQ Mty 95'




CHAPTER IX
THE ROLE OF 8T, EUSTATIUS

At the outbreak of the American Revolution the eolonist#
were far from being self-sufficient, It was ovident from the be-
ginning that outside help would be necessary if independence was
to be won, Where was this irmediate help to be obtained? Since
the ce;oniata had already established i1llegal trade relations with
the West Indiea; it seemed only logical to continue thisg trade to
obtain the supplies needed.

Gunpowder was one of the greatest needs, Because of
this lack of powder, the different colonial governments, the Con=
tinental Congreas; and even private individuals attempted to ime
port saltpetre and powder as well as manufacture them at home,
Georgia was the only colony which did not impert either of these

before the fall of 3.777.1

' 1 Orlando W. Stephenson, "The Supply of Gunpowder in -
1776", American Historical Review, January, 1925, New York, 1925,

11
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Almost all the powder imported during the first two and
a half years of the war came from France by way of the West

Indies. Hany of the carrying ships, following legalities, merely

touched at those islands on their way to colonial ports. These
supplied were obtained in exchange for colonial praducts; some of
which went no farther than the West Indies; while some were fore
warded to France. Probably elghty per cent of the imported salte
petre and powder reaching our shores came as a direct result of
the efforts put forth by authorities in the different countries
and by the Continental Gongress.z

During this periad; over one hundred different ships
brought supplies to our shores. From this we conclude that the
patrol of British war ships along the Atlantic coast fell far
short of establishing an effective blockade, and that full advane
tage was taken of the chances of pgetting through. Furthermore,
the arrival of s0 many vessels suggests that the French govern-
ment both secretly encouraged, and; at times, openly connived at
the illicit business carried on by her merchants in France and in
the West Indies., Had there been a serious inclination on the part

of the French goveﬁnment to do so, doubtless it could have put a

2 Ihid" 279.




13
stop to the shipping of military stores to the Americans. The
total quantity of pawder and other munitions allowed to come here

from France and from ports under French control helps in a way to

easure the desire of the French government to break up the

ritish colonial empire and secure a part of it for France., It
elps also to measure her disappointment at not being able to
retrieve her losses of 1763.3

Because of the close assoclation of the fortunes of St,.
Fustatius with those of the American Hevolutionary War; and the
fimportant part which it played in aiding the colonists to continue
Lhat difficult and unequal atruggle; the story of this tiny island
is worth telling, J. Franklin Jameson has written an article en-
Litled "3t. Eustatius in the American Revolution" which appeared
in The American Historical Review of 1903, Some of the material
bn S3t. Eustatius used in this study is based on this article.
Located near the northeast corner of the kest Indian
phain, St. Eustatius is neither large nor fertile. It ig less
bhan seven square miles in area; and did not produce more than six
iundred barrels of sugar a year at the time of the Hevolution.

[ts fortifications were never important, and it had only one

3 Zhid.
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janding-place. However, its position among the West Indian is~
lands was such as to give it; in the hands of the Dutch; excep=
tional advantages. Under the old system of colonial management,
typified by the Navigation Acts, each country endeavored to mo=-
nopolize the commerce of its colonies. The Dutch, however, had
been converted to the principles of colonial free trade. Accord-
1ngly;_3t. Eustatius; a free port belonging to a highly commercial
lnation and located in the middle of rich and prosperous English,
French; Spanish; and Danish colonies managed under a restrictive
|system; had; even in times of peace; the opportunity to become an
important mart of trade.t

When war existed between England and France or Spain,

jand the prohibitions of mutual intercourse between the islands

ere enforced by vigilant cruisers and eager privateers, the
Eeutral trade of St., Eustatius flourished still more, and drew a
far larger population than it had in peaceful days.s
Let us go back to the beginning of the war, and espe~
lcially to the days before the French alliance, when it was merely
la confliet between Great Britain and her‘revolted colonies and had

4 J. Franklin Jameson, "S5t. Dustatius in the American

gveiéutien," Ihe American Historical Review, New York, 1903, VIII,
3-68L,

5 ,;gid.; 684
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Lot widened into a European ﬁar. The war; and the non~importation
hich prieceded it;‘had cut off at one blow the supply of British
hanufactures to the American colonies,

It was true that the native American inventiveness would in

time supply their place, The mute inglorius *hired men! who
- would do anything with a jack~knife, the versatile Jonas of
Mr, Abbot's fancy, would blossom forth as the Yankee inven-
tor. But this would take time; and, in the meanwhile, it was

very convenlient to have in the neutral islands of the West
Indies a _means of tenmporary supply and a market for American
axparta.6 :
The trade ventures of states as well as of individuals were often
carried on in this way. For inatance; Abraham van Bibber; agent
|of the atate of Maryland at St. Kustatius, was taking care of
cargoes sent or underwritten by the state, as sarly as March,
1776. There are letters from him; addressed to the Virginia come
mittee of safety in the archives of Virginia. In June of the same|
year; Van Bibber of St. Eustatius and Richard Harrison of Martis
[nique announced that they had formed a partnerahip; and solicited
a portion of their custom from the Virginia comnittee,’ .
When France entered the war on the side of the Americang]
French islands like Martinique and French carriers became ineli-

Jgible to conduct such a trade, and the position of the Dutch

6 Ibid., 684-685.
7 Ibid., 685.
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neutrals became doubly profitable, British merchants stored thein
goods at St., Tustatius to keep them safe in case of an attack by
the French, John Adama; in 1779; wrote to the president of Con~
gress saying that closer diplomatic relations with the republic
of the United Netherlands would be justified because of the grow-
ing trade through the island of 3t. Euétatins.a British armed
vessels were enabled to cruise off the Azores and in other situae
tions well adapted for checking the voyages of French and Spanish
vessels to the West Indies because of the close diplomatic rela-
tions between Portugal and Creat Britain.9 This threw West In-
dian commerce more and more into the hands of the Dutch and of St
Eustatius, Jameson offers two examples. He tells of a Dutch rewJ
admiral wha; during thirteen months there, reports that over
thirty-one hundred vessels sailed from the island during the time
of his stay. An English observer reports that in 1779 some twelve]
thousand hogsheads of tobacco and one and a half million cunces of

indigo came to it from North America, to be exchanged for naval

8 Ibid., 685-686.

9 Francis wharton, ed., zh%_ﬁgxgggguga%gg
ﬂCgrggﬁgagdegcg of the Upited aghington, , 111,
717-718




17

supplies and other goods from Eurape.la British traders, suppos-
edly bound for St., Christopher, would embark on tfading ventures
to Ste. Eustatius. They were careful, however, to take out sepa~-
rate insurance policies on the two voyages from England to St.
Christopher and from there to St, Eustatius, This trade with the
neutral islands was encouraged by an act psssed in 1780, although

the trade with the revolting colonies was not approved*ll

During the Revolutionary War, St, Eustatius wag the
quickest and safest, and at times the most 1mportant; means of
communication between American representatives abroad and the -
Continental Congress at home. In Narch; 1777, Lord Suffolk was
informed by an agent at Rotterdam that Messrs, Willing and Morris
of Philadelphlia had written to a HRotterdam merchant that he could
jwrite by way of St. Eustatius, because they would have regular
communication with that island.l?

Ordinarily the enrichment of the Dutch West Indies would
! ot have grieved the British, British resentment againgt St.
Eugstatius was aroused to such a violent pitch by the facet that the

kac 10 Jamegon, "St, Eustatius in the American Revolution,"

11 Ipid.
12 Ibid.
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jgland was made the means of an enormous export of military sup-

plies to the American armies, and later of naval supplies to the

itime forces arrayed against England in the Caribbean. On
E:;ch 20, 1775, at Yorke's insigtance; the States fieneral of the
United Netherlands issued a proclamation forbidding the exporta=~
tion of warlike stores or ammunition to the British colonies in

America or to any other place without the permigsion of one of the

olleges of Admiralty. The tremendous increase in trade from 3t.
sustatius had been noted as early as the end of 1774. All during
hat winter there were two agents from Boston at Amsterdam buying
tores and gunpowder. The Dutch prohibition was constantly evaded
ven after it was published. The "admiralties™ were not too vigi-
ant about executing the prohibition of the States General and the
Council of State, Because of the lack of-gunguuder; the Second
Continental Congress, in October, 1775; recommended that the vari.
bus states export provisions to the West Indies in order to obtain
brms and ammunition.t3

A merchant at Campveere informed Yorke early in March,
l??é; that a favorite way to take ammunition to the Americans was

ro load for the coast of Africa but then to go to S5t. Bustatius,

13 Ibid., 687.
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where "thelr cargoes, being the most proper aasartmenbs; are in-
gtantly bought up by the American agents‘"l& The high price of
powder proved a great temptation to the Dutch merchants., Jameson
reports that in ﬁpril; the profit on gunpowder at the island was
one hundred and twenty per cent 17

Lord Suffolk received a report from a Rotterdam mere
chant that powder which cost forty or forty-twe floring a hundreds
welght in Holland sold for two hundred and forty florins a hun-
dredweight at the island. This was sent disguised in tea-chests,
rice barrels, and the like. The report continues, eighteen Dutch
ships had gone out by May with powder and ammunition for the

American market.lé

Most of the powder used by the American army in 1776
came into its hands in this way. In May Yorke informed Eden that
"St. Bustatius was the rendezvous of everything and everybody
meant to be clandestinely conveyed to America., It was easy to get
oneself carried thither; and military adventurers of all nations
have congregated at the island."7 Holland and especially Amsterd
dam remained the c¢hief source of supply,

14 Ibid.
15 Ibid., 687-688.
16 Ibid., 688.

17 Ibid., 688-689.
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These underhand dealings did not go unnoticed by the

British ambassador. He urged increased activity on the part of
the British cruiaera; elicited resolutions from the States Gen~
eral's committee of foreign affairs condemningz such traffic, and
urged the pensionary of Holland to do all that he could. Moreoven}
the Dutch constitution was so complicated and cumbersome that
nothing could be accomplished., Large numbers of people were ine-
terested in this trade, although most people supposedly condemned
it, The city of Amsterdam was especially interested in it. Van
Breckel, the pensionary of that city; constantly worked to thwart
the British ambasgsador.

When the Dutch prohibitions explired in autumn, the
British government sent a memorial of protest to the States Gen- |
eral. That governing body issued a proclamation forbidding the
exportation of warlike stores or ammunition to the revolted colo-
nies for one year from October 10; 1776. Nothing much was ex-
pected from this proclamation. This is evident from the fact
that Suffolk suggested that the amount of military stores sent teo
the Dutch West Indies should not be larger than the average expori

in the years before the war, and that the Dutch colonial govern-

ments be compelled to give an account of their expenditure., Yorkel
; supgested to Eden that, since the Dutch did not make the proper
i use of the gunpowder they manufactured, they should not be allowed)

i to take home any saltpetre., The trade, however, went on. At
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sntervals the trade did slacken because of the action of the
British crulsers, or because of the glad tidings from Long Island,|
or because of overstocking by the Amsterdammeraalg

These satisfactions were short-lived, For instance, a
Ipritish captain reports that he stopped a Dutch ship salling hione
from the island te Flushing with one thousand seven hundred and
fifty barrels of gunpowder. The Dutch sailing master admitted
lkhat he had a2lready sold seven hundred and fifty stands of arms
nd three thousand barrels of gunpowder at the island; but that he
bas taking the remainder home after waiting seven months to sell
it., The British captain thought that he was going out beyond the
lranze of British cruisers to meet a vessel to which he would trans
fer his stocks. There was a vessel found sailing in the neighbore
hood without earga; the occupanta of which gaid that they were
feruising for pleasure.19

In the middle of the year Johannes de Graafi, the secre-
ary, replaced the ppvernor of the island; but he did no better.
e port was opened without reserve to American ships. On Novem-
Eer 5; 1776; Van Bibber wrote to the Maryland council of safety

o urge them to send all their vessels to St, Tustatius rather

18 Ibid., 689-690,
19 Ibid., 690.
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than to any other ialand; "as the Dutch have discovered that thein
1aws when put in force must ruin their Merchants, I am on the
pest terms with His Excellency, the Governor, and have his word
and promise relative to some particulars that gives ue great sate-
4sfaction and puts much in our powers. I was not so happy taking
the Conmand, but we are as well fixed with him now as we were with
the former.™ Two weeks later he wrote: "Our Flag flys current
levery day in the road. The Merchants here are always complaining
o Government until they would give as much Protection and Indul-
sence here to us as the French and Spaniards do... « « 7The Gover=
por is daily expmressing the greatest desire and intention to

rotect a trade with us here., Indeed they begin to discover their
Eistake and are now very jealous of the French's rumning away with
b1l their trade,m?0
On November 16; 1776, an event occurred which brought
pritish resentment to its highest point. A vessel of the new
Continental navy;‘the Andrew Doria, under Captain Isaizh Robinson,
Flying the new flag of thirteen stripes, anchored off St., Eusta-
Lius, and saluted Fort Orange withveleven guns; and the salute was
Feturned, This was thought to be the first time the American flag

Fas saluted in a foreign port. However, on the preceding

20 Ibid., 690-691,
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October 27th; an unnamed American schooner on lesving the Danigh
island of 5t. Croix with a small cargo of powder saluted the fort
and had the compliment returned.21

Hewever; the affair at 5t. Eustatius was more noticee
able. The arrival and reception of the Andrew Doria roused the
indignation of the president of 3t, Christopher, Commenting very
severely on the salute; and summing up the many violations of
neutrality he had observed from bis island, he sent the document
to DeGraaff, Simultaneously, he sent an indi-nant account to the
gecretary of state in London, In this account, President Greate
head commented severelv on the open encouragement and protection
which the rebels received at the Duteh island, and the constant
equipping and fitting-out of privateers to prey on British com-
rerce, He was especially angered by the incident of the sloop
Beltimore ﬁggg; flying the flag of the Continental Congress,
wtieh; on Noverber 21, almost within range of the guns of Fort
Orange, had taken a British brigantine and then returned to the
road of St, Bustatius, with {lag fiying, and there received every

girn of aid and pratectian.zg

22 Ihid., 691-692,
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As Lord Suffolk stated, the greatest offense was the
honcr pald a rebel brigantine carrying the flan af thre rcbel Cone
gres8se  The governor's reply that he was "far from betraying any
partiality btetween Great Britain and her HNorth American colonies,f
wus insolent and not to be overlooked, The secretary of state
sent to S8ir Juseph Yorke @ memorial which he present:sl to the
Stales General, After giving an account of DelGraafi's connivance
at the illegal trade and the fittingeout of privatecrs, and the
outyaze of returning the American salute, the ainister declared
that he was ordered

"to expressly demand of your High Mightiness a formal disaw
vowal of the salute by Fort Orange, at St, Eustatius, to the
rebel ship, the dismission and immediate reeall of Governor
van Graaff, and to declare further, on the part of His Maj-
esty, that until satisfuction 1s given they are not to expect
that His Majesty will suffer himself to be amused by nmere
agsurances, or that he will delay one instant to take such
meagsures as hegghall think due to the interests and dignity
of his crown."

Appropriate measures had already been taken, The lords
of the Adriralty ordered the commander-in-chief on the Leeward
islands station to post cruisers off the road of 5t, Lustatius,
search all Dutch ships for arms, ammunition, elothing, and send

violators to some port of the Leeward Islands, to be detained

23 Ibid., 693.
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antil further orders; and these injunctions wers to be maintaired
for six weeka.ga

The Duteh Republic conld not resent the tone of the
Tneglish memorials because of its complicated machin-ry, In their
reply they disavewed their governor's action sand ordered him to
come liome to exrlain his actions, Pleading ape, fear of seasicke
ness, and the recent illness of ﬁimself and his fanily, he was
more than a year coming home. In the meanwhile the salutes went
one OCount Bylandt, who succeeded DeCGraaff in marine matbers,
watehed more closely over the executlon of the neutrality laws;
althouzh he was accusel of treating the Americans with the same
eivility as the cltizens of other nations, The anbassador was
notified that the British would net take any more Dutch ships
wiess they had naval or warlike stores on board bocause St
Lugtatius proved very useful to the Windward Islands in time of
scarcity.zﬁ
Delraaff reached home in July, 1778, He presented thig
|[defense in February:

He declared that ke had never comnived at trade in rumitions

of war; that the Baltimore Hero had not been {itted out at
the 1sland but by the council in Maryland; that her prize
was not made within range of his guns, but nuch nearer %o

2L fhid.
25 Ibid., 69l
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3t. Christopher, that the salute of the ﬁggggg 2 had, ©
hia orders, been returned with two less guns than a e ha
fired, thet this was the usual return salubte to merchant
vessels, and implied no recognition of American 1ndepandenceg
that on accusation by Vice-Admiral Young against Van Blbber,
as concerned in fitting out privateers he had placed the
arrival of o demand backed by proper nguzaJ;VQ, that it had
heen his custom to require incoming American vessels to giva
bonds for due observance of neutrality while in Lhe port
that ha had aompellea all persana on the island possadainb
cunpewdor to take osth that they woedld not export it to Nort
America; that he had appointed a customs clerk visitor of
shizg in order to find arms if any were illejally carcvied. 6

His defense was declared entirely satisluctory, and it
was reporbedt that theres were nore grounds of couplaint against the
Aritish commanders than against the Dubchs UJelGraaflf was again
appeinted governor, and hig actions were so acceptavle to the
Americans thuat two privateers werce named after him and uls lady.2?
A newtrality which was so completely satisfactory one belligerent
and so unacceptabls to the other could not have been p%rfeot.zg
In the spring of 1730; when Sir George Rodney arrived
to tazke command of the British fleet in the West Indies, the situ<

ation wes still very suralued. nfnar an unsuccessiul battle with

Guiciien off Martinique, April 17, 1780, Rodney declared that two

rﬁé L Didm s 695’4-"6950
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vessels salled from 3%. Bustatlus, loaded with naval stores and
cordare and filled with carpenters. These vessels joined the
French fleet, and, bhecause of their help, eipht French vessels,
which otherwise rust have dropred oub, wore sble to stay with the
fleeﬁ.gg Rodney seocng to have conceived a deep feelins of hes-
tility 2cainst the igland. He later wrote, "This rock »f only s
miles in length and threc in breadth, had done Bngland more harm
than 81l the arms of her nmost potent enemies, and a2lone supported
the infamouse American rebellion,®30

By thls time the war had bocome a Buropean one as wells
Because the Duteh had Locome the chief neutral ecarriers in the
war which England was now wasing against France, Spain, and the
United States, and also because of the dispube over tie doctrine
of ‘ivee ships make free goods", the feeling between EZngland and
liolliand was boconing worse and worges. AV this time the novthevrn
Buropsan npowers were wniting against England in the drmed Heuw
tralisy of 1730, ”be buteh would probably asree., I the break
with the Dutch came, all the northern powers would unite in a

comaon caus® against Sngland., A pretext for starting a war with

29 Punuy The Life and Correspondence of the Late
Adniral Lord iiodne; : IT §G,
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¢he Dutch came with the discovery of a proposed Dutch-American
greaty among the papers of Henry Laurens, when he was captured
py the British. The draft was signed only by an azent of Congress
and an agent of the city of Amsterdam. Sir Joseph Yorke, in two
memorials presented to the States General, demanded a formal re=-
pudiation of the conduct of the Amaterdam magistrates. The tone
was 80 threatening that insurance to S5t. Bustatius rose to twenty
or twenty-five per cent,

The repudiation was promptly sent, but; because of the
Dutch ccnatitution; it was difficult for the States General to
punish the officials of one particular city. Their reply was un=
aatisfactory; and on December 20, 1?80; England declared war on
the Netherlands, Unable to prepare rapidly for war; Holland be=-
came an easy prey. In fact, before Yorke left The Hague two
hundred Dutch ahips; with cargoes valued at fifteen million flor-
1ns; were seized.l}

Even before his first memorial Yorke saw the advantazes
of taking the Dutch colonies in America. Thelr loss would affect
the Netherlands the most; would stop the rebels' trade and sup-

plies, would close a channel of correspondence and connection with]

31 Jameson, "S5t, Eustatius in the American Revolution,"
696-697.
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North America. The British could use St. Zustatius as a depot
£ill satisfaction is given for the past; and security for the
fuzure.32 Yorke urged immediate action because he had heard that
ten or eleven Dutch men~of-war were preparing to sail for the
west Indies,

When Yorke's letter relating to St. Eustatius was re-
ferred to the admiralty, Stormont informed Yorke on December 5;
that he was preparing "to send secret orders to seize the Dutch
gettlements in the West Indies."33 Orders to conquer the Dutch
islanda; beginning with St. Eustatius and St. Martin; were sent
to Rodney and to Major-General Vaughn; the commander of British
land foarces in the West Indiea; on the day that war was declared.
Lord Stormont also declared that "he was persuaded, upon best ine
formation; that we should never have been in our present situation
ere it our good fortune that St, Eustatius had been destroyed or

[sunk in the ocean,"3®
Rodney arrived at Barbados on December 6. Rear-Admiral

Sir Samuel Hood joined him before the end of the year. Abcut the
ppiddle of January, Rodney made his useless attack upon St.

Vincent. He received the declaration of war and his gecret orders|

32 m, 697-698.
33 Ibid., 698.
34 ZIbid.
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on the 27th of January; sailed from 3t, Lucia; after embarking
vVaughn's troops; on the 30th. On February 3; he appeared before
3t. Eustatius and demanded the instant surrender of the island
and all that it contained.??

There was no possibilivy of defenaé; so Governor De=
graaff surrendered unconditionally in an hour. Count Frederick
van Bylandt, commander of the lone Dutch frigate, after firing
two broadsides for his honor's aake; also surrendered. A large
body of American sailors, after a show of resistance, were forced
to surrender because of hunger and Vaughn's troops. A detachment
of British troops captured the islands of 3%, Martin and Saba.
The Dutch flag was kept flying over the town and fort so that
Dutch; French, Spanish; and American ships might be decoyed into
the harbor and seized as the spoils of war.36

Rodney; surprised at the stores of materilals, wrote to
his wife; "The riches of St. Eustatius are beyond all comprehen-
sione « « » All the magazines and store~houses are fillad; and
even the beach is covered with tobacco and sugar."7 By March 26;
the admiral reported that about fifty American vessels, loaded
with tahacco; had been captured., According to Lord George

35 Mundy, %mww.mm
wmm %2
36 Jameson, "St. Eustatius in the American Revolution,“

37 ibid.
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hermain, the island was a vast magazine of all kinds of military
,cores.l Although Rodney had been told that there was none to be
nad; several thousand tons of cordage were found. Some authori-
ties estimated the value of the capture at more than three milliony
pounds sterling. The admiral wrote to his wife, with understanda-
ple pride, that "There never was a more important stroke made
against any state whatever."33

John Adams, who was in Holland at the time, in a letter
to Secretary Livingston, reports the reaction of the Dutch people
to this disaster,

You can have no idea, sir, no man who was not upon the spot
can have any idea, of the gloom and terror that was spread
by this event. The creatures of the court openly rejoiced
in this, and threatened, some of them in the most impudent
terms., I had certain information that some of them talked
high of their expectations of popular insurrections against
the burgomasters of Amsterdam and M, VanBreckel; and did

r, Adams the honor to mention him gs one that was to be
hanged by the mob in such campany;3

There was great exultation in Englands GCovernment stocks rose
one and one-half per cent. Lady Rodney wrote to her husband:

Your express arrived on the morning of the 13th (Harch). My
house has been like a fair from that time till this. Every
friend, every acquaintance came., I went to the drawing-
room on Thursday following. It was more crowded than on a
birthday; and the spirits which every one was in were

3¢ Ipid., 70L.
39 Zibid.
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enlivening to a degree, and the attention and notice I re=
ceived from their Majesties was sufficient to turn my poor
braine. +» « « This glorious news has been a thunderbolt to
the opposition, very few of whom appeared in the House of
Commons, Negotiations towsrds peace had been talked of for
some time before its arrival, snd it cannot fail to produce
a favorable effect upon them, ¥

As a reward for what he had done, Rodney was raised to the peeragﬁ
and was glven an annual pension of two thousand pounds,il

What would Rodney and Vaughn do with their great prize?
Rodney left no doubt as to his opinion of the island when he
called it: /

A nest of vipers, a nest of villains; they deserve scourging
and they shall be scourged, « « + An asylum for men guilty
of every crime, and a receptacle for the outcast of every
nation; men who will make no scruple to propagate every
falsehood their debased minds can invent. ¥We thought that
this nest of smugglers, adventwrers, betrayers of their
countgi, and rebels to their king, had no right to expect a
capitulation, or to be treated as a respectable people;
their atroclous deeds deserve none, and they ouﬁﬁt to have
known that the just vengeance of an injured empire, though
slow, is sure. _

He wanted to leave the island, "instead of the greatest emporium

on earth, a mere desert, and only known by report,n"#2

lis anger was greatest against the British merchants of the ig~
land, particularly those who became Dutch citizens in order to

50 Mundy, The Life and Correspondence of the Late
lidniral Lord Rodnev, i, ve

1 Ipid., II, 62.
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carry on the illegal trade, In fact, Rodney doubted the patriote
jgm of most of the British who lived in the West Indies.

His desire for personal gain was mingled with his right-
eousness. His earliest letters aﬁaﬁa that all is the King's and
he is entitled to nothing.“a Three days later he gends to the
admiralty this requesty "If His lMajesty is graclously pleased to
bestow any part of the spoil between the navy and army, he will
dictate in what manner his graclous bounty may be bestawed; that
all altercations and disagreements may be prevented between" the
two aerviees‘a“

Started in the apiris‘cf énger, Rodney's measures were
very comprehensive, He ordered that all the inhabitants ofvst,
Eustatius were to be amnsidéred prigoners of war, and that all
property was to be confiscated for the Kings Burke branded
Rodney's action as} |

a general confiscation of all the property found upon the

igland, publiec and private, Dutch and British; without dis-
erimination, without regar& to friend or foe, to the subjects
of neutral gawersi or the subjects of our own state; the

wealth of the opulent, the goods of the merchant, the uten-
sils of the artisan, the necessaries of the poor, were seized|

13 Ibid., I, 13, 16,
k‘l" M.’ II, 21
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- on, and a sentence of ganergi begrary pronounced in one
moment upon a whole people.

The admiral's other orders were equally drastic. There
ghould be no plundering; no ana; not even the officers, was to go
; ashore; the English inhabitants of the lLeeward Islands weré
ordered to stay away from the island; all naval stores were tc be
gent to the government shipyards at Antigua; supplies intended
for St. Domingo should be sent to Jamalea; all goods sent from
Europe should be sold publiciy for the King; all goods produced
in the West Indies and in America were to be sent in convoy to
England; the "lower town" should be destroyed or unraofed; and
the materials sent to Barbados; St. Lu&ia; and Antigua.“é Commu~
nication with the Windward Islands under flags of truce was fore-
B [pidden.t7

The execution of these orders caused much hardship.
Prisanérs of war were at the mercy of the admiral. Samuel §urzon;
an agent of Comgress, and Isaac Gouvenewr, Jr., his partner, were
sent teyﬁngland as prisoners of war, They were convicted of

treason, but, after serving only thirteen months, they were

; 203 45 Jamegon, "St. Bustatius in the American Revolution,"|
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released by the Rockingham ministryq“a The French merchants were

treated better thgn the others. They were sent to Martinique
and to Guadeloupe, and were allowed to take with them their houses
holz} furniture,’, platg, linen; and even their slaves. The gover-
nor, the Dutch, &msrican; Bermudian; and British merchants werc tof
be permitted or forced to r@tire; taking their household goods |

with them., The sugar-planters were the only ones to be treated
with favor,“g

Since most of Europe was either at war with England or
sympathized with her enemies, the devastation of St. LDustatius

aroused a storm of protest. In london the merchants of the West

109 Wo, 11,325 M“'lbé.

: ameson, "8t, Bustatius in the American Revolution,"|
704-705, states that the-execution of these decrees caused much
ardship. Warehouses were locked, and merchants were denied
permission to take inventories. All of their books and papers

ere seized, and their cash was taken from them. The captain of
a Duteh supercargo, in a asort of diary, gives a vivid picture of
the searchings of portmanteaus and pockets, the digging in gardens
for hidden specie, the destruction of houses, the seizing of
jnegroes, the appropriation of riding horses by the officers, and
the daily work of shipping goods and sending away the inhabitants
in companies, nation by nation. Rodney treated the warnings of
the assembly of St. Christopher with contempt.

The Jews were the most severely punished. They were
deprived of their property, banished without their wives and
children, and given only one day's notice. One hundred and one of|
them were confined in a weighhouse and strigped of their clothing

1ich was ripped and the linings were searched., The British
Egtained aiyg-

F

thousand pounds sterling in this way.
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india CGompany presented a useless petition to the Crown. The
Amsterdam merchants sent a protest, It also became the subject
of debate in the House of Commons during the month of May, 178l1.
The debate was reopened in Decomber when Rodney and Vaughn, who
lwere members of the House, were able to be present at an inquiry
into their conduct. Edmund Burke led the opposition. He argued
that ilodney's confiscation of private property was illegal and
without precedent; and that the inhabitants, entitled to royal
protection, could not all be punished for the crimes of the few.
Moreover, the properties were sold at auction at far less than
their value.50

Hore important to his professional career was the accu-

[sation that Rodney, excited by the tremendous value of his prigze,

stayed at S5t. Fustatius eagerly supervising the disposal of the
poil and in this way lost the chance of important naval successes
ffered him by the temporary weakness of the allies in the Caribe
ean. While he was spending more than three months at the island;
De Grasse slipped around Martinique, watched only by Hood's squad=-
won; and joined the rest of the French fleet off Fort Royal, If
this juncture of the French had not been accomplished, the battle
of Yorktown would never have happened. If Hodney had been to the

pindward of Martinique, where Hood wanted him to be, the juncture

o 50 Jameson, "St. Eustatius in the American Revolution,™
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of the French fleet would not have occurred,* Thus, St. Eusta-
tgius and its suppliea; before and after its capture, was of
great positive and indirect aid.5?2

After careful preparation, a large fleet of thirty
merchantmen was sent to Ingland with the most valuable part of
the spoils, under convoy of Commodore Hotham., A French admiral,
Lallothe Piquet; attacked the convoy about twenty leagues west of
Scilly Islands. Hotham ordered the convoy to disperse and save

themselves and the warships to draw clower. The French, instead

51 m_d_n ’ 706“'7070

52 1Ibid., 707. Although Lord North's majority might
stop a Parliamentary inquiry, it could not halt legal proceedings.,
There appeared in the courts no less than gixty-four claims,
amounting to more than the value of the property. Rodney was
gut to a great deal of expense. The books and papers could not
¢ found, In the six years following the capture only thirteen
cases were settled and judgments of restitution were handed

down in nine of these cases. Because the King had granted all
of the spoils to the captora, Rodney and Vaughn should each have
received a sixteenth of the spoils, Vaughn, however, told the
House of Commons that he had made nothing by the transaction,
and Rodney did no better, They made conflicting arrangements
which angered their captains and retarded the settlement.
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of fighting, made after the convoy and captured twenty-six of
them. The warships and only eight of the merchantsships suc-
ceeded in reaching Berehaven Bay.s3

3t. EBustatius was taken by the French before the end of
the year. The chief French merchant of the island and Marquis
de Bouille plamned the recapture of the island., At an unguarded
part of the coast; the marquis; governor of Martinique, landed a
force of fourteen hundred men and quickly overcame the six hun-
dred and twenty-eight men cormmanded by Lieutenant-Colonel Cock-
burn. In 1783 it was brought out at Cockburn's trial that, al-
thoush he had been offered reeinforcements; he had refused them;
and, even though he had been warned of the French attack two
days before; he had ignored the information. Rodney's money;
instead of being sent to England; was configscated and detained
because of the mismanagement of his agents. Jameson sums up
Rodney's caresr in these words:

The conquest on which he had prided himself as 'the greatest
blow that Holland and America ever received! ended in dis-

appointment and vexation for him, reversal and odium for his
country. But it was left for him, by the memorable victory

53 Ibi%., 707-708, Jameson and Randolph G. Adams,
"A View of Cornwallis's Surrender at Yorktown," American Histori-
cal Review, New York, 1915, 33, disagree on the number of ships
sent b¥ Rodney to Ensland., Since Adams's article is based on
Rodney's own record, we have used his figures,
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of the twelfth of April, 1”8? to show that, despite nistakeq
of public policy an faulta ot grivate chardcter, he POS-
gessed a professional greatness that cqgld 1ife ﬁis name to
height of lory as a naval commander, -

The astory of St. Dustatius has been told in some detail
ecause 1ts contribution to the success of the Battle of Yefktawa
Eeema tarwarr&nt it. 1If llodney had not been occupled with his
conquest s he probably would have intercepted the French flecet.
pithout the support of this fleet Washington could never have been

puccessful in his slege of Yorktown.

54 Ibid., 708,




CHAPTER III

THE ROLEL OF THE FRENCH WEST INDIES IN DETERMINING
FRENCH POLICY, 1775~-1781

Haiti, too, played an important part in the Revolution-
ary War. The fear of losing it and other islands in thre West
Indies helped to bring France into the war as an ally of the ree
volting colonies, It wzs through Haiti that French aid came to
the Amerdicans,

The history of Santo Domingo and Haiti has been greatly
influenced by geography and climate, On December 6, 1492, Colume-
bus digcovered the islend during his first voyage and named it
ﬁispgniol&. Except for Cuba; Haiti, the western end of this is-
land, is closer to the United States than any other of the Carib-
Kaan lands. Mole St., Nicolas is located on a peninsula which juts
jout into the Windward Pasaage; one of the most ilmportant of the
porldts trade routes. Permaneﬁt,reaiﬁenee by white men has been

pade difficult because of its tropical climate., However, it has
Eeen made a leading producer of subtropiecal products because of

hat same climate., The importation of slave laborers, used by
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the white colonial settlers to exploit its resources, was to make

the history of this part of the island different from any other
Furopean colony.l
The first permanent settlements were made in the southe
leastern part of the island., Engliahmen; Frenchmen, Spaniards,

land others fought for land and booty in the western third, Haiti,
phich soon became an international frontier. Slowly the French
pirates gained enough control to have 3gain; by the Treaty of
Ryswick in 1697; recognize French aoéereignity over a vaguely
ldefined western third, Tor the sake of clarity and accuracy; this
fstudy will refer to the part controlled by France as 3aint Dominw
[see. , }

In the trade wars of the mercantilistic aze Saint Domine
|gue gradually became the prize possession. The French minister to
Spain, Ossun, in a memoir dated February 10, 1774, declared: "It
{Saint Dominpue) is the finest and #ichest colony that remains to
[the French after the inconsiderable losses that they sustained in
America; and it is their principal rescurce for the maintenance

£ a navy that becomes more necessary every day to counterbalance
Ehe formidable power of the English.” 2 To illustrate the

Rayford W.-
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2 Ibid., 2.
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importance of this trade, Logan states;

0 On the eve of the French Revolution Saint Jomingue exe
ported to France commodities valued at two hundred and five
millions of livres in the currency of Saint Domingue and
imported from France articles valued at sixty-nine millions.
In this lucrative trade were employed 1,282 shins of three
hundred and sixty-fhree thousand tons, manned by fifteen
thousand sailors. In addition, trade between the colony
and the United States had become so important that many
French chambers of commerce were protesting agninst it,3

If Saint Domingue were threatened, Spain would also be

concerned since she was bound by the Family Compact to come to thel

id of France in case of war, and was to share any losses which
t;uid occur £s a result of war. Spain's immense American empire;
including Santo Domingo on the same island as Saint Domingue, -
pffered a strong temptation to the enemy, who wou'd probably be
Cireat Britain; if Spain went to war to support France.,”

British policy in the Caribbean encouraged thig fear of
B possible British attack on Saint Domingue. Having taken Jamailea
hxlﬁﬁﬁ; the British sought to capturs Hispaniola under Cromwell.
fnetructions were sent to the British governor of Jamaica during
phe War of the Spanish Succession to encourage Santo Domingo to
frive the French out of Saint Domingue. The capture of 3t, Louis
o the southern coast, in l?hs; was the only British attempt at

3 Ibid., 2-3.
b Iblde, k5.
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invesion after the French had acquired possession of their part

b the island. However, Dritish diplomacy gave serious consideraw
kion to Saint Domingue throughout the eighteenth century.’ As
karly as 1738 some British statesmen began to reslizec the importe
bnce of the Windward Passagze, between Cuba and Saint Jomingue, to
British commerce with Jamaica and Portobelo. By the end of the

kighteenth century Mole St. Nicolas came to be called the "Gib-

paltor of the Caribbean,” Finally; sugzar from Saint Uomingue was

the rrincipal competitor with that commodity from the British

ugee islandss By the end of the Seven Year's VWar there was a
Etrong tradition in the French foreizn office that in future wars
the British would surely attack Saint chingueoé
This island became a troublesome region which British,
Spanish; and French would have to consider carefully in their war
plang, It was more than a potential danger spot to the Thirteen
Colonies., It was a source of important trade.

The contacts between the English colonies in North
Bmerica and Saint Domingue began when Wllliam Phips recovered a

pirate treasure off the coast of the island as early as 1686~1687,

5 Hichard Paras the We d t
k739-1763, 0xford, 1936, y%o%%g—j%% in the West Indies,

6 L. G. Wickham Legg, editor  In. .
tructions 01689~1789 Prance, i724~17bL §§§&$%h géglﬁﬁ%F%QBer ea,
Eanaon, 15

, XLITI, 210-213.
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1717 the French governument, recoznizing their commerical inter-
dependence, and in spite of the mercantilistic theory, authorized
a trade that consisted largely of an exchange of New Ingland fish
for molasses from Saint Domingue.! Soon thers worc sixty-three
distilleries in the Massachusetts Colony alang, for the manuface
ture of molasses into rum. Dwring the next ten years the North
Americans had smugsled so many unauthorized articles into Saint
Doningue that Franee complained to Great Britain. By the Molasses
Let of 1733 the British hoped to levy such high duties on molasses

fror: the French West Indies that the colonists wo.ld find it more

roiitable to trade with the British islands‘g The two mother
ountries eould not put a stop to the smugsling and contreband
rade even when they were at war because both the direct and tri-
pusular trade had readed such proportions.

The attention of the tlree commercial powers and of the
Fhirteen Colonies was focused upon Saint Dominsue at the outbreak
pf the American Revolution. In order to prevent an attack on
paint Domingue and other French pessessions, many competent higtow

Fians conclude, France secretly aided the colornies and eventually

7 Samuel E. Imrison» The Maritime Higtory of Massachu-
?g £3, ﬂoaﬁon, 1921, 19.

. & Pares, War and Irade in the West Indies, 1739-1763,
-y -
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gigmed the Treaty of Alllance, and a Treaty of Amity and "rade of
778 with the United States.? This point is disputcd, hoWevm“,

ing points of view in the controversy; second, Lozan's conclusion
pased on new materials; and third, the extent of aid through
Saint Damingue.le

Van Tyne offers evidence to show that France aided the
colonies and sigred the alliance with the United Stutes because
of fear of an attack on the French Vest Indies. 4s carly as
1?&&, some colonists wanted to conquer Saint Dominque as an oubw
let for their products, according to Pontleroy, a French observer
in the American colonies. In 1762, another French ohserver, De

Kzlb, was convinced that the Auerlican Colonies would Jjoin the

9 logan, The Diplomatic Relatiors of the United Stotea
and Haitd, 1776-18%1, 5-7.

10 Sources consulted for this dispute include:

- Samuel Flap: Benmes Diplomacv of the Amerdcap
Revolution, New York, 1935, 1 9~25

Edward S. Ccrwia, French Policy and the American
aliiance of 1778, Princeton, 1916,

can Revolution,™ American Historical R

San view, New York, 1916, XXI,
3"‘ ?u

Claude H, Van Tyne, "Influences Which Determined
the French Government to Make the Treaty with America in 1778,"

American Historicsl Review, New York, 1916, XXI, 528-541.

py equally competent historlans. Let us examine, first, the oppo]

Edward S. Corwin, "The French Objective in the Ameri

-
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pothier country in an effort to capture the French Lest Indieé
siiould France attaék wreat Britain. Vergennss, French minister
of Yarelgn alfairs, and Louis XVI recorded their fears of a
pritish attack on the French West Incies. GCaron de Jeaunarchais,
whogse role in aiding the colonies will be discusscd later, either
on lds oun initiative or prompted by Arthur Lee, an American
ageut, in 1775 began ©o nag Vergennes with this relrain: e
wwi add tiec Americans or they will be reconeilsd with Great
Dritaln and attack the frouch west Indies."ll The same ldea wasg
8ugotELCd by the minlster of Prussia to France, Lord Storment,
the Dritish ambascador to France, was told by Vergenues in Au-
gust of 1777; "Tour public papers, your paaphletcers, your
orators and ours, repeat ceasclessly that if you dc unot regain
your colonics, you will fall upon owrs. "R
: In order to prevent reconcilliation and Jednt attack on
the Yrench possessions in the Caribbean, Vergennes pushed the
1 American alliance after the British considered a peace offzr to
: the colonies following the battla.of Saratoga. The American

agents in Paris were reportedly carrying on sceret negotiations

11 Logan, Ihe Diplomatic Relations of the United Stateg]
end saied, 1776-0098, 7 .

12 Zbid., 8.
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with British agents. The Americans cleverly kept the fires burne-

ing under Vergennes. The French foreign minister wrote to Ossun,
the ambassador to Spain on Decerber 27, 1777; "The questioﬁ whidh
we may have to solve ls to know whether it is nore expedient to
have war against England and America united; or with America for
us agaimst England,"13 Van Tyne observes that Vergennes and
other French statesmen recosnized in the American Revolution an
opportunlty to weaken Great Britain and restore France to a domie
nant position in world affairs. However, he is convinced that
France aided the colonies and signed the alliance with the United
Statea in order to prevent an attack on the French West Indies.t4

On the other hand; Corwin, largely on the same evidence
consulted by Van Tyne, entirely rejects the latter's conclusions.
He points out that ?ergennes in order to win unwilling statesmen
to his views would naturally use the argument of fear. Corwin
further states that Great Britain had not attacked French and
Spanish pessessions in 1775 when the fleets of Erance and Spain
were waak. 3ince the Bourbon fleets were ready in 1778, why
should they fear a British attack? In 1775 the British opposi-
tion headed by Chatham had threatened the attack. Vergennes

13 1bid.
14 Ibid.
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argued that the danger came from the government of Lord North in
1778« In 1775 Vergennes argued that the bait of a joint attack .
on the French West Indies might have deterred the American colo=
nists from revolution. In 1778 the argument had come %o rest on
the danger of the reconciliation of the United States and Great
Britain. Corwin wonders if the Americans would have accepted the
opportunity for spoils in 17771778 if CGreat Britain did not offe
complete independence. FProbably nat; and; in Corwin's epinian;
Great Britain was not resady to offer complete independence at
that time. From reports sent by Nuailles; the French ambassador
to London, Vergennes knew that there was little likelihood of a
settlement, ﬂareover; Vergennes insisted that the Spanish West
Indies were in graver danger than were the French. Corwin cone
cludes that Vergennes's concern "was not, primarily, the security
of the West indies,"%?

Some of Corwin's arguments are open to criticism. An
attack on the French West Indies could have been good bait to
prevent the revclution in 1775 and would have been equally good
bait to bring about a reconciliation in 1778. Second, it was not
at all strange to see the arguments formerly advanced by the op=

posaition adopted by the party in power,

NEE Corwin, Erench Policy and the American Alliance of
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In the opinion of those who support the Corwin thaary;
the most conclusive argument was the fact that Vergennes knew
khere was no danger of a British attack in 1777. After the
gailvre of Farth; a secret British arent, Lord Starmﬁnt; on 3ep-
tember 2, i777; offered to Vergennes & guarantee that if Prance
ldgid not send troops to her West Indies, Great Britain wouid not
gend troops to her Caribbean possessions. Corwin fails to record
the reaction of French statesmen to this proposal. Maurepas and
Louis XVI agreed with Vergennes that this proposal could not be
accepted, . Stormont could not hide his disappointment at not being
able to get an agreement that would have given his court an ad-
vantaze over the French which they would certainly have abused,
whern he received the French refusal. Vergennes also told Stormont
tﬁat, if she wanted to, Great Britain could send ships and troops
to the West Indies but, he.recommended, they should stay out of
the waters of the French colonies, Ou September 6, 1777, Ver-
gennes wrote Noailles that France intended to exercise her right
to send troops to the French West Indies for defensive purpoges
only.l6
Two weeks later in a letter written to Ussun, Vergennes

passed judgment upon the British course of action. According to

Vergennes, the British were really trying to intimidate France so

o
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that they could prove to the Americans that they could not rely
upon France in a time of crisis. He instructed Noailles in
rather warlike tones to inform Weymouth that the French fleet
would leave for the French West Indies in about a week. France
recognized Great Bpritain's right to increase her West Indies
fleet in proportions. Statesmen of the eighteenth century did
not place faith in the officlal assurances of a rival nation., If
he had acéepted the pledge of any other nation at face value,
Vergennes would have very nalve indeed.17

Logan has examined this question at some length because
it has been one of the major controversies in American diplomatie
history. It would seem that later American historiang have supe
ported the Corwin theory. He has reopened the case because of
some new materials which; combined with his own reading of the twd
principal sourceg used by other writers, shed new light on the
problem but which do not completely solve it

The new materials used by lopgan are, first, the ne~otiaw
tions bhotween France and Spain to settle the boundary between
Saint Dominzue and 3Santo Domingo and certain difficulties which

arose dwring the period 1770-1777; second, the correspondence

X7 Ibid., 10.
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Verpenmes and Count D'Ennery, thc governor-general of
1n 1775 ad 1776,18
In Aurust, 1773, ﬁ'&if ulllon, at that time the French
foreipn minlster, wrote te Ossun that France had to exercise
perticular care in putting Saint Domingye in o state of defense
in case of wer with Great Britain. He did net say why war might
he expected at that time, 3Secause Frencl 1 ilitary experts de-
clerad that she proposed boundary would make it imposgsible %o
defond Saint Domingue adecuately, DYAlguillon suzpsested tha
facles ITT might ghandon Sante Domingo to Prance in return for
France's haviny given Loulsiana to 3pain in 1763, The French
foreign minister proposed the fortification of the Bay of Man-
ceiille as a *mssar' precaution azainst possible Sritish Attackd
In Februacy, 177¢, he declared that il was absolutely nscessary
for France (o pass {rum one end of the islaasd Lo the other in casq
of a British atiacke. He alsc sugpested that the Opanish part of
the island wouid surely fall into British hands without Fyrench
aid, He argued that, since the Dritish attack had been planned
during the Seven Years' War, the project would more than likely
be renewed. It, therefore, became aecessary for the two Bourbon

wuses to gebttle their difficulties in the ialaad.lg

18 Iuid., 10-1l.
19 Ibid., 1l.
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De Arande, the fOpanigh ambassador to France, expressed

no cvove fear of & British attach when he told Vergemnes that

pere wag plenty of time to prepare for one. De Aranda taumted
ercennes by comparing the cession of Janto Domlngo By Spain in
poturn for Loudsiana to the partition of Teoland in 1772 However,
he saw ne incouvenience in permitting Froench troops to pass

vy

chrougsh the Spanish part of the island in the event of a Britisgh

wvesionse  The Sponigh anbassader contended that Spain's lossces atb

£

P R | EAE 2 TR S N T e ~ i . s . S SO Sk o 5 ¥
he end of the Scven Ycars' War made Sante Doninge the key of her

1

Jelcise for Culba and her mainland possessicng and that 17 was dne
Poasible to graant france the boundary she wanted, He further
contended that, since Fraunce was only interssted ln comcree and
periculture, extensive forvificuations were not neeued, In case of
tar with Great Britain, Vergennes insisted, on January 104 1775,
hat the possession of Fort Dauphin by the firench was absolutely
hecessary. However, it geems clear that he was thinking only of
pn eventual war. Vergennes' desire to keep the knowledge of Boure

bon difficulties from Creat Britain may have been the roesult of

eneral policy rather then an immediate attack by the British in
he Caribbean. Logan sums up this correspondence in this way:

"On Lhe whole, this correspondence left the impression that there
Kas no real alarm on the pert of either France or Spain., Indeed,

the documents sugsezat rasher that both sides were willing to

Goan




53
resort to any argument in order to obtain the best boundary pos-
gible, "2V

On the other hand, in Vergennes' letter to Ossun, dated
February 1lh, 17?5; there ig a convinecinzs note of sincerity. lMore-
over; it is Vergennes! first reference to thz comins revolution in
the Thirteen Colonies. 3Because of their difficulties with the
colonles, the British, in Vergennes' opinion, would hardly urge
the Fortuguese to cauge trouble for Spain in the io de la Platte

region. Then he concludes:

But the more thelr embarrassment inereasns and compels them
to undertake serious measuros, the rmore it is necesgary for
ug and for Spain to take precautions so that the counterblow
wvill not fall uwpon us at a time when we least expoct ity I
am not without worry (Je ne suis pas tranquille), I con%ess
to you, Sir, when I sec the Brit%ih sending to Americs such
large military and naval forces.

The expressicn, "I am not without worry," seems to be
the best statement of the attitude of both Vergennes and D'Ennery
during the next twenty~two months., On June 23, 1775, Vergennes
wrote to the French ambassador in London that the British might
be tempted by the French possessin in the Caribbean and that the
French might have to reenforce her colonial garrisons if the
British increased their fleet to America, However, only three

battalions were sent to Saint Domingue and three to Martinique in

20 Ibid., 12.
21 Ibid.
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gseptember of that year. D'Ennery, in replying to a missing dis-
patch of September 22, further expressed this anxiety when he
described the sad state of the colony's defenses with special
reference to the lack of ammunition; powder, snd rilies. iowever
on Uctober 27, 1775, Vergennes wrote a long dispatch to D'Ennery
in which no reference was made to the situation in the Thirteen
Colonies. A letter from the French charge d'affaires in London
written in October stating that the French dest Indies need not
fear a British attack may have prompted this silence. According
to a letter written on March 28, 1776, D'Enncry states that only
an enormous sum of money would make Saint Domingue secure against
attack.zz |

An analysis of two treaties signed by D'innery and

Count de Solana; the governor of Santo Domingo, on February 29,
1?76; gupports this attitude of anxlety rather than panic. Artie
cle X of the boundary treaty provided for the passage of French
and Spanish troops through each other's colony. Article II of thg
treaty for policing the frontier provided:

In case of war or unexpected attack on one of the two parts
of the colony, Uhe nation that is aol atiacked will furnish

to the other all the help poasisie in men, money, arms,
ampauni. blon, and supplies. « o o

22 ibige, 13.
23 zhid.
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iy ealb inportance wos gttached to Lleuv nroevisions in the copw

pespondence of Vergennes with D'Enn@ry, JS%@H, end Sartine. Howe

bver, vergennes did comploin to Ussua Llab the new voumdary did

Ty

Lob permit greater facility of communicabtion betweon Lhe northern

bnd southern parts of Saint Domingue to the French. The Council
pi wtabe which considered these treatles did not make any refere

buce Lo Lhe value of the permission to pass thioush Lanto LOMANE0 e

1Y

pince Lhds was the tiue toalb the French declded to send secret aid

bo tiw colonies, one nizht think that this silence had soume sig~
niliconces,  Just about thils time Vergennes told D'IZnnery that

hore was no real danger of a British attacks. On fay 19, 1776,

.o puverner-gencral repiied to Vergewnes: VI think as you doy

3

piers 18 notidng to be feared at thds moment oo the part of the

"2l

Loy they are much oo occupied witi. their colonies, How-

1 i T T - 2 1 (o o wh o AT ke F e shony
pver, he thought thot o Drltish success or roconciliation should
oy r g T s N SR N o gy 5y p P
pe Leareds For thaob reason, he goes ons

It would be necessary to be in soue ucaswre of defense herel
if they (the British) believe that we are able to defend our-
selves, Curwﬂ*n&j they would atbteanpt nothing; it is only Lhe
ease with which an expedition could be made and the assurance
of guccess that would tempt them. It would, ﬁherefgge, be
very wise to prevent any eflort since we nave time.”
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This same attitude of "watchful waiting" prevailed even
after the French decided to aid the colconies secretly. E'Ennery;
on June 15, 17?6; was instructed by Vergennes not to leave on
his planned vacation "until calmer circumstances dispel all the
anxieties against which it is very difficult to defend oure
aelves."zé He believed the British would not cause France any
trouble in her colonies because of the many difficulties with
their own colonies. Although the safety of the French colonies
might be asswred by these difficulties:
It would be more prudent, I think, to owe it (the safety)
only to ourselves. That is the doctrine that I preach gere,
You 4re on the pround. iis neod yous aavizes2t Coronee)s
According to the Corwin theory, one wonders if it was really ade
vice Vergennes wanted or additional arguments with which he could
convince Spain and his ministers of the danger of a British ate
tacke In either caae; D'Ennery reluctantly agreed to stay at his
post .28
At the end of August Vergennes received word of the
American declaration of independence through the British news-

papers. This news seemed to strengthen his opinion that there

26 Ibid.
28 Ibid., 15.
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was little danger of a British attack. For example, on August 28,

1776, he virote to D'Emnery that an administrator gifted with his
foresight was required by the critical situation in America.
Versennes expressed the fear that British "despair" might "oring

gbout a catastrophe against which it is wise to be prepared.n29
He felt that the egtablishment of a number of posts, held by small
detachments; would be enough to hold off a larpge invading force
until the deadly weather forced them to withdraw, Because there
was little danger of a reconciliation bYetween the United States
and Great Britain such an invasion was not to be feared immediatgd
ly. He also believed that the struggle would be long and bloody.
Since fear is as powerful an argument as is love in politics, as
well as in other matters, Vergennes had more faith in strong
demonstrati ons .30

Not even the American defeat on Long lsland in the
sumier of 1776 changed the attitude of DYEnnery or Vergennes.
Vergennes informed D'Ennery toward the end of September that he
could count upon the aid of Solano in case of attack and instructe
ed him to ascertain the strength ag\the Spanish forces on the ige

land. There were no detailed orders for planned action. D'Ennery

29 Inid.
30 Zbid,
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Look the same attitude as Vergennes, that is; that the British
yere too busy elsewhere to attempt an attack on Saint Dumingue;
put that "it would be more prudent to owe our safety only to ourw
gelves." On November 15; 1776; the King's Council drew up some
nstructions for Admiral du Chaffault de Besné; the commander of
the fleet about to sail for the Caribbean, which coincide perfect=
}y with this attitude, If the British were to attack Saint Domine

e, he was to rush to its assistance with all his forces.
owever; he was not to leave the eastern Caribbean if he did not
eceive word of an attack on Saint Domingue., These instructions
feveal merely the desire to take elementary precautions against

ossible attack rather than any serious alarm,3l

Logan evaluates these documents in this way i

Unfortunately, the failure of these colonial documents to ree
veal anything of value during 1777 prevents us from seeing
more clearly the French policy on the eve of the American
alliance, But the documents already printed by Doniol and
Yela Utrilla show rather convinecingly that during most of
that year Vergennes was trying to prove to the Spanish chief
secretaries, Grimaldi and Florida Blanca that neither wisdom
nor necessity required the sending of twelve thousand troops
to the Caribbean in order to prevent a British attack. In-
deed, when Vergennes began, after he had received news of the
American victory at Saratoga, to drive for an alliance of the
two countries with the United States, the astute Florida Blane
ca harped upon France's refusal to accede to his‘gequest as

a pretext for obstructing the proposed alliance,l

31 Ibid., 15-16.
32 Inid., 16.
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In the light of thia old and new testimony and these
conflicting interpretations Logan draws these conclusionsi

First, the tradition of a British attack upon the French
West Indies at the first favorable moment was so strong in
the French foreipgn office that Vergennes and most of the
Council of State expected an-attack in the early days of the
American Revolution, JSecond, as the struggle revealed each
of the contestants increasingly determined to achieve his
objectives, Vergemnes and his advisers acquired the convic-
tion that the danger of attack was not imminent. They,
nevertheless, remained alert. Third, after the American
victory at Saratoga, Vergennes either sincerely or cleverly
feared reconciliation and joint attack. The new rmterials
do not help us definitely to solve the riddle. It is evi~
dent, however, from the documents alrealdy publish:d that if
he hag deceived posterity, he also decelved contemporary
French statesmen, for Lauis XVI, Maurepas, and other members
of the Counecil of State, and Ossun all agreed with him early
in 1778, that there was a real danger of reconciliation and
Joint attack, Fourth, fear of an attack was not the primary
reason for either French aid or the French alliance because
a possibility is bound to be secondary to a certainty. Therd
could be no doubt that the loss of the Thirteen Colonies
would greatlg weaken CGreat Britain. There was, on the other
hand, only the possibility that Great Britain would attack
the French West Indies, Even that contingency had to be
suarded against because France would gain little, if while
the Thirteen Colonies were being subtracted froa the British
scale, France at the §§ne time lost her remaining possessiong
in the Western world,

Whatever influence the French West Indies had in deter=
mining French policy from 1775 to 17?8; probably the most entan=
gling permanent commitment in the history of the United States
"forever {rom the present time and against all other powers.,"

According to Article XI of the Treaty of Alliance signed on

33 M'Q 16"17~
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february 6, 1778, the United States promised to support France by
military measures in defending the French %West Indies from at-
tack»BA Some one might think that this pguarantee reveals a real
fear on the part of France of a British attack on her Caribbean
colonies,

The desire to promote commerce between the United
gtates and France; including the French West Indies, was another
possible reason for French aid and the alliance. Logan states
that one writer is of the opinion that the main reason for French
policy was the desire to increase France's commerce with the
United States. This interpretation seems a little far-fetched,
As early as September of 1776 Vergennes obscured the importance
of commerce between the United States and Saint Jomingue, In a
letter to D'Ennery he mentions that France had obtained permission
from Spain to obtain supplies for her West Indian colonies from
certain Spanish colonies, inciuding Loulsiana. However, since
this would not be enough, American help "would be more abundant
and wore direct." He would recommend, therefore, that former
restiictdve measures be relaxed., He concludes; "our best friend

is the one who helps us to live."35 Late in December of 1776 he

?& Hunter Millier, ed¢tor Treaties and Other ;%teg§?
3 A 764
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expressed the hope to D'Ennery that many American ships wnuld}
carry supplies, tinmber, and tobacco to Saint Domingue during the
winter. Being very optinistic, he thought that D'Innery night

obtain a surplus from the Americans that he could send to

6

)

France.3 It is difficult to determine just low much comuerce
went to Saint Doningue during the wor, "The first private banker
in the United States," Stephen Girard started his enormous for~
tune by trading with Saint Domingue dwring the American Kevolution
and in the years which followed. The dependence of tlese ports
upon foreipn trade when France was at war is shown by the opening
of CGlOﬂlml ports to foreipgn veqsela in 1778, A competent French
dlplomat, Louis Guillaume Otto, at one time charge d'affaires in
the United States, declared in 1797:

In sacrifiecing SO many men and millions (of frﬁﬂcs) to suge
tain the United States, the Hoyal Government had in view
making the United ﬁtates the compleient to our western
colonies by finding in the United States at all g%nea pro-
yisions for owr Yest Indies or for our warships,

In other words, in war as well as in peace, an independent United
States could supply Saint Domingue, as well as other French pog-
sessions, with necessary provisions that British colonies would

be prevented from doing. This arpgument was promoted at a time

36 Ibid., 18,
37 1Ibid., 19.
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when some French statesmen were recommending a friendly policy
toward the United States in the face of considerable oppasiﬁion.:33

The terms of the Treaty of Amity and Commerce, signed
on February 6; 1778; show that the desire for commerce between
the United States and the French West Indies was only a secondary
consideration. It granted to Americans the most-favored nation
treatment but confined it to the French ports in Europe. Although
she did not open any new ports, France promised to keep open the
existing free ports in the Caribbean. The treaty sought to proe-
mote trade between the United States and the West Indies in only
one way. DBy the terms of the original treaty molasses taken by
the Americans from those islands was exempted from the payment of
duty in the United States. In return, the Americans promised not
to impose an export tax on goods taken by Frenchmen to those
possessions from the United States. France did not insist upon
these provisions being retained when southern interests and tenm=
perance advocates prevented the adoption of these clauses by the
Continental Congress because it meant an increase in trade for

the northern states. Although it does not seem to be the main

reason for the French desire to help in the founding of an

38 Ibid.
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Saint Domingue did assume a role of major impartance.Bg

of the United States must also be considered as one of the mo-
tives behind French policy. At the same time the importance of

Saint Domingue in the plan of secret aid may be examined. The

ducted through the colony is also indicated,
It was reported by D'Ennery that Americans bought a

lot of powder in Saint Domingue as early as September, 1775. He

difficult it is, even with the best intentions in the world, to
prevent a merchant here from selling his powder to one who is
obscurely the secret azent of some merchant from Hew England. "0
He also reported that the Dutch purchased powder at Saint Domin-
fue, carried it to the island of St. Eustatius, and then would
resell it to the American agents bhere. The part that island
played in providing powder that helped the Americans to keep
fighting has already been told. However, one can not entirely

[discount the powder which came to the United States from Saint

39 1bid.

40 Stephenson, "The Supply of Gunpowder in 1776,"
erican Historical Review, 1925, XKX, 271-252.

independent United States, commerce between the United States and

The opportunity for profits seen by some French friends

personal interest of some American officials in transactions cone

wrote to Vergennes, perhaps facetiously, "You understand how very
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pomingue either directly or by way of St, ﬁustatiua.hl The Cone
tinental Congress took full advantage of the opportunities offered
by the Caribbean islands for buying the supplies so badly needed
py the Americans, On October 13, 1775, the Committee of the
tThole passed a resolution which recommended that the various
revolutionary assemblies export certain products at their own
risk to the West Indies in retwn for sal petre, sulphur, ammuni-
tion, and arms. The governor of Saint Domingue was sending munie
tions to the Americans, Lord Stormont complained, At the end of
1775, a Prench agent in the United States, Bonvouloir, reported
that the Americans wanted to buy supplies in Saint Domingue and
to receive two military engineers by way of that island, 2
The plan by which France sent aid to the Americans
through 3aint Domingue developed in the brilliant mind of Caron
de Beaumarchais, His love affair with the beautiful Pauline de
Breton gave Beaumarchais a romantic interest in Saint Domingue,
As a result of investments he had made there, he also had a finans

cial interest, When he wrote his famous memoir, "Peace or War,"

41 Jameson, "St, Eustatius in the American Revolution,"
683 ”708t‘

42 Logan, Diplomatic Relations of the United States
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which helped to form the ideas already in the mind of Vergennes,
he might have had Saint Domingue in mind. At about the same
time a confidential memorandum which Beaumarchais submitted to
the king proposed the formation of a commereial house, Roderique
Hortalez and Campany; to handle the secret French aid. They
could be absolutely sure of the trangportation of munitions to
Cap Francois, which had been chosen as the first port of deposit
in America, if they used French vessels., 43 Using information
given him by Beaumarchais, Arthur Lee, in the spring of 1776,
wrote from London to the Secret Committee of Congress that France
was ready to send five millions of livres worth of ammunition and
arms to Cap Francois from where it would be sent to the colonies,
In his Reflexions of April; 1776, Vergennes suggested:

The colonists would send to our ports their ships laden with

pgoods and take in return arms and ammunitions, paying the

difference not in currency, but in goods delivered to either

Saint Domingue or to one of our European ports.ih
It became evident that the Americans would be expected to aid
the French colony in return for aid sent to then through Saint
Domingue.

k3- The Deane FPape

¥
%gg;ggz, New York, 1887, XI

Collections of the Hew York liistorical
X, 106-113. :

kly Logan , Diplomatic Relations of the United States and
Haiti, 21,
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Briefly summarigzed, the following are the propositions

of the French government to give secret aid to the American

colonles:

: l. The aspect of a speculation of an individual to which

i the French government were strangers, was to be main-
tained throughout,

2. To appear so, it rust be go, up to a certain point,

3. The French government would give one million francs,

he It would influence Spain to give an equal sum,

5. Beaumarchais would ask other parties to subscribe to

: his enterprise. :

6. Beaumarchais would establish a large commercial house,
and, at his own risk and peril, he could supply America

1 with arms, ammunition, etc,

1 7. The French arsenals would deliver to this company arms

! and ammunition to be replaced or paid for.

8. Beaumarchais and his company were not to demand money

i of the Americans, but produce of their soil; such pay

5 was to be distributed throughout the kingdom and the
enterprise would bocome self~supporting,

9. The PFrench government was to reserve the right to favor
or ogpose the company, according to pelitical contine

1 rencies.

| 10, %eaumarchais was to render to the French rovernment an
account of the profits and losaes of the enterprise,

1. The French government was to decide whether to grant new
contributions or discharge bi:% company from all oblipza=-
tlons previcusly sanctioned.

This plan will be discussed more fully later in this
study.

Only exhaustive research could establish just how much
aid went to the Americans by way of Saint Domingue. Two British

Revo;ut;ggh5Bo§%g§ch§9§ganigﬁggard’ Beaumarchals and the American
? s 4 ’ el A
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frigates stationed off lole 3t, Nicolas early on 1776 hindered
trade relations, The British protested against the sale of
powder in Saint Domingue to the Americans in June. Four months
later Vergennes wrote D'Ennery that the contraband trade between
the ¢ . vy and the United States was probably not as great as
Stormont thought it to be. Nevertheless; he recommended that the
contraband trade be completely stopped in order to convince Great
Britain of the French desire to stay on friendly terms with harﬁﬁ

Vergennes and Beaumarchais were perfecting their plan
of secret aid beneath this cloak of friendship. The first ship
of Hortaleg and Company did not set sail for the United States
by way of Saint Domingue until the end of the year. In Becember
Beaumarchals informed Vergennes that the Amphitrite was ready to
carry a regiment of Irish soldiers and supplies to the United
States. OSince France had the right to send reenforcements and
supplies to her own colany; the ship's papers were to show that
the entire consignment was for D'Ennery, Beaumarchais kept
Carabas, one of his agents, in Saint Domingue in order to super-
vise the operations there., Vergennes was notified by Beaumarchais]
on July l; 1777, that the cargo of the Amelie, having reached

46 Logan, Diplomatic Relations of the United States
an¢ Haiti, 21-22.
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gaint Domingue, was already on the way to the United States in
geveral American ships. Beaumarchais wrote to France; his agent
in the United States, on December 20, 1777; that a vessel con-
taining more than one hundred cannon and uniforms for the Amerie
can sbldiers was being sent to Saint Domingue. The American ship#
were to lie off Cap Francais. They were to hoist the Dutch flag
to the main mast and fire five shots after giving the preliminary
signal. Then the Prench ship was to go out and allow itself to
be captured and taken into an American port where; after a trial;

it was to be released, In the meantime the Americans would have

had the cargo turned over to ﬁhem.h7

The Americans were active in the meanwhile. William
Bingham, the first purchasing agent in the Caribbean, went out

to lartinique where he played an important part in sending sup=
plies to the United States, Richard Harrison was sent in a simi-
lar capacity to Cap Francals, Silas Deane was informed by Richard
Porris on August ll; 1775. However, there is no evidence that he
fulfilled his mission. Horris suggested to Deane that they en-
lzaze in a little private business for themselves through Saint
Domingue at the same time. In another letter written a month
later Morris states that the American purchasing agents were

Stephen Ceronio and John Dupuy. Deane was instructed that, since

k7 Ibid., 22.
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they were the safest routes, he was to continue sending supplies
py way of Martinique and Saint Domingue, The French were urged
py Deane in January, 1777; to speed up shipments by way of Saint
pomingue. Nicholas Rogers; an American agent at Port-au-Prince,
three months later informed Deane that eleven American ships were
at the Cap and that five or six had just left for the United
states. At the end of June, 1777, the ship; La Hoche, in which
marris and Deane had an interest of one hundred thousand livres,
@rrived safely at Charleston, South Carolina, by way of Saint
Domingue. A Captain Landais was advised by Deane to z0 to the
United States by way of the colony in September. Any artillery
pfficers which might be with him were to be disguised as sailors
pr passengers for Saint Domingue., A few days later; Deane, writ-
fng to the Committee on Foreign Affairs, expressed the hope that
the Therege; a ship he had sent by that route, had arrived.&s
One must be very cautius in any statement as to the
Falue of the ald that the United States received through Saint
Pomingue. Ships did not always reach their ultimate destination

ven when they landed in the island., For instance, in 1779

anklin informed the Continental Congress that the supplies from
wo large ships were still in Saint Domingue although they had

rived there many months before, Nevertheless, it is certain

48 Ibid., 22-23,
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ghat the aid sent before and after the alliance was cansiderableﬁé

Some of the foreign volunteers used Saint Domingue as a
means of assuring safe passage to the United States. Among the
first was Voidke;‘a Prussian, who later attained the rank of
prigadier general, and participated in the siege of Quebec, who
passed through the colony in the fall of’1775 with a passport
from Ve:gennes authorizing him to join the Americans. General du
Portail, who served as chlef of engineers at Valley Forge during
that fateful winter and who built the defenses that saved Washinge
ton's army, came to Philadelphia by way of Saint Domingue. De
Kalb; Lafayette, and their comrades on the La Victoire falsely
gwore to port authorities at Dordeaux in ﬁarch; 1777, that they
were going to Saint Eomingue.so
Saint Domingue was not the scene of any important
Hmilitary or naval operations before the French alliance. The
Continental Congress aprointed a committee to arrange with Bajeu
Laporte, a Frenchman, the terms of a contract for raising a regi-
ment of French soldiers in Saint Domingue and Martinique on
May 9; 1777. The records fail to show whether the contract was

49 ;b;d., 23=24,

50 Ibid., 24
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&
e;izam‘!:.mi.“’l The Continental brig, ington, rade a cruige to

, 52
ghe Caribbean, but was captured on its return fron Cap Francaia.®

post of the privateers cormissloned by the americans confined
thedr activities to the eastorn end of the Caribbeoaneod

Yost of the naval engasesents, even after the French
entered the war, took place 1. tho eastern ond of the Gm‘ibhe{mﬁd
saint Jomingue beecane the base of operations when the French
panted to join the Americans in naval or nilltary oporations, In
1777 Admiral D'Vstaing salled fron there for the attack on
Savannah, About six hundred colored and lesro troops from Saint
Dorikngue participated in this attack. Jhey displayed consplcuous

feourare in covering the retreat of the French annd Anerican forces

Step a brave, but disorranized attack that had already beon
Eavaalzzd in advance to the Dritish, lven thoush the attack failed
tu{i the French fleot had to retwrn to the lest Iindles, nows of

ho expedition forced the British to abandon Larasangett Bay, in

51 vworthington Chauncey Ford, editor, dowrnals of the
itinental Concgegy, washington, . C., 1907, VII, 342,

52 Cardnor V. Allen, i ligvald History of the Agerdcan
y Doston, 1913, I, 1)9%

53 u@@t‘ e 1%‘. “omons, The | of the Ungdied 3 s from
&ﬂm”“ ¥ vnﬁﬁ ngbon, Je i?%f% Owiy7 o
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Rodney's opinion, "the best and noblest harbor in America."55

It may be that the yearning for their own liberty in the minds of
the more intelligzent Hegrces and mulattoes like Christophe and
partial Besse was aroused by the experience of fighting for the

% independence of others.

§ On August 5, 1781, the French fleet sailed from Cap
Francais under Admiral de Grasse. Through its victory in Lynn=
haven Bay; the actual fighting, as far as the Americans were
ccncerned; wag brought to a close with the surrender of Cornwallisg
at Yorktown. A large part of the French fleet defeated by Rodney
in the Battle of the Saints on April 9; 1782; was assembled at
Cap Franéais. The Windward Passage was closely watched by Rodney
to the end of the war. The necessity of guarding the merchant
fleet from Saint Domingue from the danger of a British attack

a linited the French naval assistance to the United States. This
possible British attack caused great fear among French merehan’cs.ﬁal
Logan has this to say of the part played by Saint
Domingue in the peace negotiations:

Although Saint Domingue was not mentioned in the treaty of
peaceuﬁgtween Franceggnd Great Britain, it gad been y

55 Ibid., 115.

§ 56 Logan, Diplomatic Relations of the United States
S [nd Haiti, 26, = )
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frequently discussed in the negotiations., One of the
proposals looked to the exchange of CGibraltar by the British
for certain French and Spanish possessions, Jome British
planters feared that France, in return for helping Spain

in her efforts to recover Gibraltar, might be given 3Santo
Domingo. In that event, they contended France with her
already vast sugar estates in Saint Domingua would be able
to control the world sugar market. While this fear was not
the only reason for Britain's refusal to relinquish Gibrale
tar, it indicates a vital interest in Saint Domingue that
will help to clarify British policy during the quarter of a
century in which the diplomatic history of the United States

was mog& cloaely connected with events in Saint Dominsue and
Ha.itic

57 ZIbid.




CHAPTER IV
FRENCH AID TO THE COLONIES

The aid which France sent to the colonies played a
hajor part in the success of the revolution. Before the Treéty
pf Alliance was signed in 1778, France sent secret help to the

revolting colonies, This aid, both secret and official, was sent
o America via the French West Indies,

Canfining.cur attentlion from the beginning to the quesg-
tion of what were the official motives of French intervention, we
Rave to consider; in the first place, the Count de Vergennes's

fttenpt to represent his program, which eventually became that of

lis government, as essentially defensive, In his "Considerationa"

¢f March, 1776, which led directly to the policy of secret aid to
e Americans, Vergennes urged Upén the king and his associates

e argument that; whether England subdued her rebellious colonies
lost them; she would probably attack the French West Indies
ordesr to use the large forces she would have assembled, and

80, in order to indemnify herself. In Lis "Hemoire" of July 23;

W77, urging an early alliance with the Americans, he took much

Th
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the same line., The policy of secret aid had been well enough in
its day, but it had not secured the Americas for France and Spaind
If England could not speedily crush the American revolt, she must
pake terms with the colonies, Those whom she had falled to retain
as subjects she would make allies, in a Jjoint assault upon the
riches of Peru and Mexico and the French 3ugar Islands,

There is, to say the least, something of an inconsist=-
ency in Vergennes's building an argument for an allliance with the
Americans to protect French interests in the Caribbean upon the
increase of danger resulting to those interests from his own
policy of secret aid. This inconsistency affords a clue to a yet
lnore striking one, In the summer of 1776, when he thought that
France could count on the active assistance of Spain, Vergennes
{definitely proposed war with England and the proposition was ten-
tatively ratified by the King and council, A little later, how=-
tver, came the news of the defeat on Long Island and Vergennes

eat a retreat from his own program, In other words, it would
beem that the danger which; by the argument in "Considerations,"
Would menace France if DEngland should subjugate her rebellious
colonies was one that could be safely awaited in quiet, but that
the one threatening from the contrary contingency was one that

fust be met half-way. Yet it was the latter contingency precisely

khich the policy of secret aid was desipgned to make sure.
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Agaln, a British attack upon the Caribbean possessions
wguld of course, have forced France to come to their defense.
It may be gravely doubted whether French official opinion held
these possessions, after 1763, in sufficient esteem to have war-
ranted a policy that materially increased the likelihood of a
serious war endangering their own security. Indeed, Vergennes
himself declared on one occasion that the French West Indies
could offer but slight temptation to English cupidlty, that
England already had enough such possessmons. ?inally, there is
every reason to believe that both France and Spain could, at any
time before 1778, have obtained from England, in return for a
pledze of neutrality, a specific guaranty so long as peace con-
tinued on the Continent of Europe. llone the less, Vergennes from
the first consistently repelled all such proposala.l
Vergennes had been haunted with the bogey from 1776 on,
mhat; as a result of America's struggle for independence, France
fand Spain would lose their West Indian possessions, It was Beau-
parchais's fine Italian hand that first planted this thorn, which

pever ceased to worry Vergennes until the war was ended. Though

1l Edward 3, Corwin, "The French Objective in the Ameri-
[can Revolution," Aggggggg,niﬁtoriggg Review, XXI, 34~36.
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Figaro was only a creature of Beaumarchais's fancy, the intriguing
luthor was a remarkable embodiment of his own imaginary hero. He
gwelt with comfort in the house of diplomacy, which has been
eralled the chosen abode of lies. On his return from England

bfter his curious adventure with the mysterious Chevalier d'Eon;
Beaunarchais informed the king; by means of a memorial, that he
had met an Arthur Lee in London, a representative of the Contine-
putal Congress; who had, in its name, offered France, for its
pecret aid; all the advantages of American commerce. However,

[ee threatened, if Prance refused, America would send her first
prizes into French ports, and force France either to admit or
Forbid them, Farbid; and America would accept peace and join with
anlandxin an attack on the French West Indies Islands; admit them
nnd a rupture with England would follow anyway. Whether Lee or
Beaumarchals invented this striking and terrible dilemma is not
fertain, but the menace of its horns never ceased to worry Ver-

pennes. At least he never ceased to pretend to be worried by

_chem.z

2 Claude Van Tyne, "Influences Which Determined the
ench Government to lMake the Treaty with America in 1778,"

erican Historigcal Revlew, XXI, 534-535.
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Frederick the Great, secret enenmy of England, had even

arlier planted at the French court a like insidious idea through
is minister in Paris. He sug:ested that France and 3Spain "had
est reinforce themselves, it (Great Britain) will seize the oc-
casion; after subjugating its colonies, to attack the Spanish and.
ench possessionsg there."B St. Germain in a nemoir to Vergennes,
March l; 1776, declared his belief that when Englaﬁd was through
Mith the American struggle, whether she won or lost, she would
recoup her losses by seizing the French West India Islands. "The
lease of conquest would sug-est the idea and the excuses are easy
ko find,n% Beaumarchais's sugrestion had made its instant appeal
fo Vergennes's imagination; and in his next memoir to the cabinet;
he dwelt upon it at length, and suggested secret aid and at the
pame time preparation for war. Even Turgot, in his reflections on
Vergennes's memoir, thought it likely that if England failed she

Eould wipe out the shame by an attack on Martinique and Porto Hico

fergennes there was no such hope and for the next eighteen months
his letters are filled with warnings of that danger, He was con=

binually plying Spain with reasons for being ready for war, and,

3 Ibid., 535.

L Ibid.

et he suggests that England may be too exhausted finaneially. Fop
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jndeed, any time after 1776 he would have plunged France into war
with England, if Spain would have Jjoined hex'.5

Spain saw in the American Revolution a possible opportu~
nity for safeguarding her American interests; in weakening the
dominion of the English race through the revolt of the colonies.
gpain pgave secretly to France one million of the three million
francs handed by the French in 1776 to the American Commisgsioners.
As the war progressed and the issue was clearly independence,
Spain was no longer inclined to help in a movement which would be
2 dangerous precedent to her own colonies. If successful, it
ould build up on her borders a sovereignity in its political
principle very hostile to her traditions; and occupied by a people

Whose energy and ageressiveness would be made more formidable by
a guccessful war, This was the second attitude assumed by Spain
to our Revolution; an attitude of annoyance, of displeasure, of

anxiety, causing her to repel any advance made by us with a sullen
though adroit persistence. 6
Van Tyne mentions many of the rumors which were wide-

spread, Early in 1775 colonial journals spread the tale of forty

5 Zbid.

6 French Ensor Chadwick, Th %5%% io %g the United
states and Spain: Diplomacy, New or
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ghips of war building in Sweden for the French government with an
eye to the quarrel between Ingland and America., In May an imagi~-
nary French fleet had put to sea to give aid to American ships,
By fall the papers carried the rumor that France and Spain had a
greater sea force than Britain could muster in a year. That
superior French and Spanish fleets were in the West Indies, That
Choiseul was again in favor and would lead France and Spain at
once into war with England. Algiers was attacked, and Gibraltar
vesieged by the Spanish, ran the wild rumors. By midsummer of
1776 the newspapers deluded Americans with a French general and
an admiral in the West Indies ready to begin hostilities against
England as soon as Congress decided upon independence.7

Since French finances seemed to shut out open war;
secret aid was the one solution indicated. That would bring the
fruits of a great victory without the danger of combat. Then, to
clinch all other arguments Beaumarchais, after meeting Arthwr Lee
in London, audaciously wrote the king: "We must aid the Ameri-
cans;" to save our own West Indies., Lee had declared that the

Continental Congress had authorized him to demand a treaty of

7 Claude H. Van Tyne, "French Aid Before the Alliance
of 1778 " American Historical Rgviag, XXXI, 3k
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bomnerce with France in order that America nmipght get from her the
hunitions of war without which defeat was certain. Should France
refuse, Lee threatened, America must yield to England, and then,
Lthat the two parts of the empire might become reconciled by fight-
pn@ side by side, they would unite in an attack on the French and
5panish West Indies. It is impossible to determine whether Lee

pr Beaumarchais invented this amazing threat, but it was just the
lkenace to have the rsreatest effect with the French ministry. Over
nnd over again that frightful portent had appeared in reports and
Irmenoire® familiar to every member of the ministry. DeKalb prophe
sied it in his report in 1768, 35t. Germain twice raised the
bpectre in his "memoires" to the king., "The ease of conquest
pould suggest the idea," he wrote, "the excuses are easy to find."
Dnly thus could England recoup her losses. Turgot had the sanme
Vision, fearing most for Martinique and Porto Rico., Only thus
couxﬁ the povernment hide its shame from the English nation, In-
fleed, John Adams had intimated as much in the Continental Conyress,

bhough that could not have been known to the French miniatry.g

A letter without date, published for the first time by
Georgze Clinton Genet in the Magazine of American Higtory, written

8 Ibid., 39.
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by Deaumarchais to the King, gives a clear statement of how he

proposed to proceed in founding this new mercantile house, which
lshould hide from all the world and even from the Americans then-
lselves the connivance of the Government in the operations:

To the King alone:

While state reasons engage you to extend a helpin: hand
to the Americans, policy requires that your Majesty shall
take abundant precaution to prevent the secret succor sent tow
America from becoming a firebrand between France and England
in Zurope. « « « On the other hand, prudence wills that you
acquire a certainty that your funds may never fall into other|
hands than those for whom you destined them. Finally, the
present condition of your finances does not permit you to
make 80 great sacrifice at the moment as passing events seem
to require,

It becomes my duty, Sire, to present to you, and it is
for your wisdom to examine the following plan, the chief ob=
ject of which is to aveid, by a turn, which is absolutely
commercial, the suspicion that your Majesty has any hand in
the affair.

; The principal merit of this plan is to augment your aid
] so that a single million. . « will produce the same results
] for the Americans as if your lMajesty really had disbursed
nine millions in their favor « . +» « Your Majesty will be- i
gin by plaecing a million at the disposition of your agent,
who will be named Hoderigue llortales et Cie: this is their
commercial name and signature, under which I find it conven=-
ient that the whole operation shall be carried oute « + o
One half million exchanged into Portugese pieces, the only i
money current in America, will be promptly sent there, for W
there is an lmmediate necessity for the Americans to have a M
little zold at once to zive life to their paper money, which |
without means of making it circulate already has become use- w
3 less and stasnant in their hands. It is the little leaven
. that is necessary to put into the paste to raise it and nmake i
it ferment usefully, il

the return of it in Virpginian tobacco, which Congress must |

Upon that half million no benefit can be obtained except
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furnish to the house of Hortales, who will have made a sale
in advance to the Farmers~General of France, by which they
will take the tobacco from them at a good price; but that
is of no great consequence,

floderigue Hortales counts on employing the second half
million in the purchasc of cannon_and powder, which he will
forward at once to the Americans,?

Here follows an exposition of the proceedings, with an
explanation of how, supposing the king permits him to buy powder
at the actual cost price from the mapgazines, instead of buying it
in the market of France, Holland, or elsewhere, the money invest
by the king will inecrease not in double progression, l? 2y Ly 8;
etc,, but in triple progression 1, 3, 9, 27, etec,

Your Majesty will not be frightened at the complicated
air that this operation assumes under my pen, when you re=
member that no commercial speculation is carried on or sucw
ceeds by any more simple or natural means than this,

I have treated this affair in so far, Sire, in the
spirit of a great trader, who wishes to make a successful
speculation and I have developed to you the unique secret
by which commerce in bulk augments the prosperity of all
states that have the zood sense to protect it, « + »

If the return in tobacco and the sale of the product
take place as I have pointed out, Your Majesty, soon will
find yourself in a position to send back by the hands of
Hortales et Cie, the three million provided for from the
price and profits 25 these returns, to recommence operations
on a larger scale,

9 Elizabeth S. Kite, Beaumarchails and the lar of Ameri-
can Independence, Boston, 1918, TT, 78-75.

10 Ibid., II, 79-80.
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Then follow considerations upon the advisability of ene
ploying Dutch or French vessels for the transport of the munitiong
to Cape Francais, chogen by Hortales et Cie, as the first depot
of commerce.,

Holding to the choice of Erench vessel charged to the
account of Koderigue Hortales et Cie, Consgress, or rather
lre. Adams, Secretary of Congress, will be alone forewarned
by the agent in England that a vessel is carrying to hinm at
Cape Francais both roods and munitions, which are to be re=-
turned in Virginian tobacco, so that he may send to the Cape
upon a vessel loaded with tobacco an agent who will bear his
power to receive both and to send back by the captain of
Hortales et Cie., the entire return in tobacco or at all
events a recognition that he owes llortales et Cle. the
balance of the iTounﬁ for which ke may not have been able to
furnish return.

So far, in Beaumarchais's mind, the mercantile undertake
ing was to be for the king, only cloaked by the appearance of a
lzercantile house. It aeems; however, that the French government,
anxious to evade all possible risk and wishing to deny all connie-
vance in the transactions, decided to remain entirely foreipgn to
he operation,
The government said:
We will give you sceretly a miliion, UWe will try to obe
tain the same amount from the court of Spain « « « with
these two million and the co-operation of private individualsgy

whom you will associate in your enterprise, you will found
your house and at your own risk and perils you will

11 Ibid., II, 80.
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provision the Americans with arms and munitions, and objects
of equipment and whatever is necessary to support the war.
Our arsenals will deliver to you these things, but you will
replace them or pay for them. You shall not demand noney
of the Americans because they have none, but you shall ask
returns in commodities of their soil, the sale of which we
will facilitate in our country. « « « In a word, the opera-
tion secretly sanctioned by us at the outset must grow and
develop through its own support., But on the other hand, we
regerve the ripht of favoring or opposing it according to
political continpencies. You will render us an account of
your profits and losses, while we will decide whether we

should grant you new subiﬁdies or discharge you of all obli-
gations previously made,

In this transaction, the responsibility of the azent to
bhe United States had no consideration. The advances of the £OVe
prament were simply a guarantee to Beaumarchais against loss.

The difficulties and dangers of this undertaking, ace
pording to M, de Lomenie; were of a nature to cause any man other
phan Beaumarchals to hesitate, He, however, tlrew himself into
his with all his usual couraze. On the tenth of June, 1776, a
fonth before the United States had published their Declaration of
independence, he sirned the famous receipt which occasioned a suit
jasting fifty years. The receipt read thus:

I have received of i1, Duvergier, conformably to the

orders of M, de Verzennes, on the date of the 5th of this
month the sum of one million, for which I shall render count

12 Ibid., II, 81,
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Two months later, Spain advanced a like sum, In addi-
tion to this Beaumarchais associated himself with numerous private
individuals in France and elsewhere, so that his first sending to
the Americans surpassed three millions.

Early in June the vast nercantile house of Hoderigue
ortales et Cie was established at Paris, while agents, clerks,
pnd employees of every sort were installed at the center of opera=
tions, as well as at the various sources of supplies and in the
eaports, Beaumarchais remained the head and center of action in
[very place,

It so happened, that a complete change was being nmade
n the equipment of the French army, so that the arsenals and
torts were charged with nunitions of war, which the government was
Filling to dispose of at a nominal yrice.lh

Before the arrival of Beaumarchais on the scene of ac-
Lion the Comte de Vergennes had countenanced and furthered the

$peraticns begun by Franklin before he left London. Among the

Lgents employed by the latter were the Brothers Mantaudoin of

13 Ibid., II, 81-82,
11& Ibidg, .T.I’ 83!
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iautes, who had undertaken the transportation of munitions of war
to the Americans,

Another arent and intimate friend of Franklin was a
certain Doctor Dubourg; a man more or less widely known as a
scientist, but possessing as well; a decided taste for mercantile
opcrations. He had entered heartily into the cause of the Anerie
cans, and was very zealous in forwarding munitions of war to the
insurgents., He seems at the beginning to have possessed to a
considerable degree the confidence of the French minister, who
deigned to correspond with him in person, and to consult him on
several occasions. As it became necessary "to act on a grander
scale; the intervention of the friend of Franklin was no longer
sufficient.” The "faithful and discreet agent" spoken of in the
Reflexions had long been fixed in the mind of the lMinister of War.
The good doctor, who knew nothing of the relationship between the
famous author of the Barbier de Seville and the French government
of of his interest and services in the cause of American Independ-
ence, all along had been secretly aspiring to a complete control
of the transactions. What succeeded in convincing him that he was]
destined for the place was that early in June, 1776, Silas Deane,
the arent of the Secret Committee of Congress, arrived in Paris
charged with a letter from Franklin to his "dear good friend,

Barbeu Dubourg," with express instructions to regard this latter
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as "the best suide to seek after and to follow,".5

Elated at this mark of esteem shown him by the colonies)
Dubourg undertook to fulfill then to the letter the instructions
of Congress and to prevent Silas Deane from coming in contact
with anyone, but himgelf. Deane soon realized that though "ine
spired with the best intentions in the world," the doctor would
be "a hindrance rather than the essential personage pointed out

by Franklin.“l6

He, therefore, insisted so strongly upon meeting
the French minister that Dubourg was forced to yield. The meeting
took place the 17th day of July, 1776. |

Silas Deane at this important meeting fulfilled the in-
tention of his mandate with intelligence, and with a reasoning,
which could only come from a vigilant patriotism. All the impresas
sion; which he could desire to produce and which was hoped from
his mission, flowed from his replies.l7

The Count de Vergennes appeared to refuse to give the
aid asked, but he led Silas Deane to understand that a confidene
tial apent would take the matter in charge. This confidential

agent was no other than Beaumarchais.

15 Ibid,, II, 82-83,
16 Ibid., II, 83,
17 Ibid., II, 8,
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Four days before this interview, Doctor Dubourg had
learned to his great disappointment where the confidence of the
minister had been placed. Knowing nothing of the real situation,
he thought to disuade Deane from his choice by attacking the
private character of the man who had usurped his place., The
effect of his letter upon the Comte de Vergennes can be Jjudged
from the fact that the latter immediately communicated it to
Bezumarchais himgelf, who was charged with the reply.lg

On the 17th of July, Silas Deane and Beaumarchais met
for the first time. DBoth men recognized at once in the other, th4
man for whom each was looking. Both had warm, generous, and une-
selfish natures, Both had their minds fixed upon one object
alone; the procuring and sending of aid as quickly as possible to
the insurged colonies. In excusing himself to Congress for dise
carding the services of the "dear, good friend" of Franklin,
Mr. Deane wrote: "I have been forced to discourage my friend on
secing where the confidence of i, de Vergennes was placed." At
the same time he does ample justice to the kindness and interest
manifested by Dubourg.lg

Beaumarchails, finding Silas Deane empowered by Congress

to act directly, ceased to communicate with Arthur Lee.

18 Ibid.
19 Ivid., 1I, 87,
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Already a change had come in their relationship. VWhen

he returned to France he found the government bent upon another
form of offering aid to the Americans. It became necessary to
preak his connections with Lee. Unable to explain the true
nature of the ent@rprise; because he was bound to absolute secre-
cy; Beaumarchais wrote on the 12th of June, 1776: "The difficul-
ties; which I have found in my negotiations with the ministers,
have forced me to form a company, which will cause aid to reach
your friends immediately by the way of Cap Francois.=20

Naturally enough, this meager information was very une
satisfactory to Lee, liore than this, he himself had hoped to
play a prineipal role in the enterprise.

From Beaumarchais he learned that Silas Deane had are
rived from the colonies empowered to treat with the ministers,
who had refused steadily to permit his own appearance at Verw
sailles. He learned that Beaumarchais had entered at once into
negotiations with the a;ent of Congress and that he, Arthur Lee,
was being consulted by no one. lLee, enraged and disapointed
hurried to Paris, where he tried to bring about a quarrel between
Deane and Beaumarchais. Falling in this, he returned to London;

anrered in his disappointment and furious apgainst Deane.?l To

20 Ibid., II, 87-88.
21 Ibid., II, 82,
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avenge himself he wrote to the Congress that the two men were
asreed to deceive both the French overnment and the Americans
by changing what the former meant to be a gratuitous offering
into & commercial speculation.

These letters arriving in Philadelphia before any report
fron Deane; predisposed Congress--{two of whose members were
brothers of Arthur Lee)~w-against the measures Deane was taking
with Beaumarchais, For the moment, however, no one interfered
with their operations and both men were too intent upon the alle-
important matter in hand to speculate upon the possible results
of the irritation of Doctor Dubourg, or the anger and jealousy
of Arthur Leeazz

By the beginning of March, ten vessels of Hoderigue
Hortales et Cie, were floating towards America., The seventh of
that month he announced that faet to Vergennes: ™Never," he
wrote, "has the commercial affair been pushed with so much vipor,
in gpite of obstucles of every nature, which have been encounter-
ed, May God give it good success, <3

Beaumarchais, naturally, expected to receive very soon

many expressions of gratitude from Congress, as well as much

22 Ibid.
23 Ibid., II, 124.
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Maryland and Virginia tobacco., He did not even receive a reply
to his Il.e'atdhcars..21'r Nevertheless, he continued to send out ships
laden with suyplies; all through the spring and summer, receiving
from his agents alone information of their safe arrival.

The failure of Congress to ratify the conditions of-
fered by its commissioner would have brought to ruin the Co&mer-
cial house of Roderigue Hortales et Cie, in spite of the subsidy
of two millions with which it had been founded, had not the Gove
ernment again come to its assistance. Though the ministers in
general; and Vergennes in particular; never entirely deserted
Beaumarchais, other and wholly different measures for aiding the
Americans were now seriously occupying their attention. The
colonies; in declaring themselves free from British rule, had
forced upon France the necessity of coming to some definite
decision. This she was slow in doing. It was inevitable that
she should take an active part in the struggles. The meusures
necessary for the arming and equipping of her forces were already
being discussed in her counails; while the nation, gone mad with
enthusiasm; was urging her forward in the pathway, which could

lead to nothinz but open war.zs

2 Ibtd.
25 Ipid., II, 125.
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To be of gervice in giving France a chance to hurt her
rival in secret without being forced to pay the penalty of making
g war she could ill affard; was the aim which prompted Beaumare
chais in aiding the American colonies financially in the Hevoluw
tione.

Underneath was the desire for notoriety and applause.
The first concrete aim was accomplished in 1776. The second was
never fulfilled in America. Here he was never generally known
even in name and never applauded, although he was sufficiently
well known by the leaders of the Continental and later Congresses
to be thoroughly suspected as a self~seeking trickster,20

This was; in part, due to the prejudiced statements of
Arthur Lee, who made Beaumarchais's acquaintance in London in
1775, and to those of Dr. Dubourg of Paris. Both of these men werp
rivals of Beaumarchaia; the former for fame or popularity, the
latter for the commercial enterprise, which fell into his oppo-
nent's hands. Lee in his chagrin at not being able to claim that
he had won the support of France, and his more or less sincere
bewilderment over the secret dealings of the French povernment
with Beaumarchais and the colonies, influenced the Continental
Congress directly., Dr. Dubourg influenced Benjamin Franklin;

26 Hazard, Begumarchals and the American Hevolution,

23,
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whom he had met sometime before in England, and welcomed to

paris in 1776,

E : To put it briefly, Beaumarchais in 1775 used to ques-
B [tion Arthur Lee adroitly about American conditions and, in the

learly days, when he was forming his vague schemes for commercial

: jealings, he discussed them with Lee. Since Lee got the imprese
5 pion then that the business firm was a mere envelope for the aid
E Lo be given to America by the French government, he always
g hffirmed thereafter that the colonies were not indebted to the
g Firm of Roderigue Hortales and Company., He could not influence
g pilas Deane, however, so he complained of him to the Continental
;

bonzress with enough force and grounds for that azent to be ree
¢alled from Paris, Meanwhile, Dr, Dubourg on finding that Beauw
garchais in some mysterious way was being made an unofficial tool
7f the French government in helping the colonies, sent a letter

¢f remonstrance to Vergennes on the plea of Beaumarchais's lack

¢f business capacity or experience and his alleged immorality. He

ould not deter Vergennes from his plan nor force him to acknowle
9

ge that it existed, but although Vetgennes and Beaumarchais had

y a laugh at Dr. Dubourg's jealous intentions, they could not
event his influencing Franklin, and through him, as America's

ise, practical man," influencing all the proceedings of the
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gontinental Conpress in regard to their dealings with Roderigue
Hortalez and Company.=<!

Of the three American commissioners with whom Beaunare

chais had to deal, he made a favorable ilmpression upon only one,

silas Deane. He had shown himself throughout all his life very

ghrewd and guecessful in reading the minds, understanding the

temper, and influencing the judgments of his fellow Frenchmen. He

[did not seem to understand the American colonists, especially the
Yankees. He did not even suspect the role he ought to assume to
rain their confidence. He could not realize that to these non=-

theatre-goers, a playwright must be in close touch with the devil

imgself, He could not have suspected that his facetious and une
usinesslike letters condemmed him again and apain--Lomenie, his
iographer, understood the character of the colonists better,

Only imagine serious Yankees, who had nearly all been
traders before becoming soldiers, receiving masses of car=-
goes, which were frequently embarked by stealth during the
night, and the invoices of which consequently presented some
irregularities, and all this without any other letters of
advice than the rather fantastic missives simed with the
romantic name of Roderigue Hortalez and Company in which
Beaumarchais mixed up protestations of enthusiasm, offers of
unlimited service and political advice, with applications for |
tobacco, indigo, or salt fish, and ended with such tirades as |
this one, which we may take as typical: ‘

tions useful to your cause in Europe, and mysel{ gs the most
zealous partisan of your nation, the soul of your successes,

27 ZIbid., 28-29.

Gentlemen, consider my house as the head of all opera-~
|
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and a nman profoundly filled with the respectful esteenm with
which I have the honor to be,
Roderipue Hortalez and Companyz8

Hazard has quoted this vivid and sympathetic explana-
tion from Lomenie for it seems to be the key to much of the mig~
understanding of Beaumai'chais's troubles with the Continental
Congreas. This fantastic, popular hero in business, thouzh not a
real merchant, was no fool. By 1777, he had come to the point of
understanding that the colonies would not pay their debt to him
unless he appealed to something more than their honor. He sent
De Francy to obtain justice from Congress for the past, and pre=-
vent his future cargoes from being gratuitously delivered., The
new contract made with the United States in 1778 sounds thorough-
ly businesslike but "does not calm the troubled waters. Shipment
continued under its provisions but payment for them is not made bj
Congress.” Beaumarchais's efforts remained unappreciated and his
financial outlays were not reimbursed,<?

On February 6, 1778, Benjamin Franklin, Silas Deane,
and Arthur Lee, as commissioners of the Thirteen Colonies, cone~
cluded a treay of alliance with the French government. The three
articlea; which are most important to this study, are Articles
VI, VII and XI.

28 Ibid., 29-30.
29 1Ibid., 30.
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Article VI states:

The Most Christian King renounces forever the posses-
sion of the Islande of Bermudas as well as any part of the
continent of North America, which before the treaty of Paris
in 1763, or in virtue of that treaty, were acknowledged to

heretofore, called British Colonies or which are at this
time or hawve lately beep . under the Power of the King and
Crown of Great Britain.

Article VII states:

If his Most Christian Majesty shall think proper to ate
tack any of the island situated in the Gulph of Mexico, or
near that Gulph, which are at present under the Power of
Great Britain, all the said Isles, in case of success, shall
appertain to the Crown of France.31

Article X1 guarantees the possession of the French West
indies to France "forever from the present time and against all
Pther powers.™ The article states:

The two Parties guarantee mutually from the present time
and forever, against all other powers, to wit, the United
States to his most Christian Majesty the present possessions
of the Crown of France in America as well as those which it
may acquire by the future Treaty of Peace: and his most
Christian Majesty guarantees on his part to the United
States, their liberty, Sovereignity, and Independence abso-
lute, and unlimited, as well in Matters of Government as
commerce and also their Possessions, and the additions or
conquests that their Confederation may obtain during the war,
from any of the Dominions now or heretofore possessed by
Great Britain in North America, conformable to the fifth and

30 Miller, Ireaties and other International icts of the
Bnited States of America, Documents 1-40: 1776-1818, 38.

31 1bid., 38.

belong to the Crown of Great Britain, or to the United Stateg
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sixth articles above written, the whole as their Possessions
shall be fixed and assured to the Said States at thg moment
of the cessation of their present War with England. 2

At the same time another agreement known as the Treaty

{ Amity and Commerce was signed by the representatives of the
Ewa nations. |

The clauses of this proposed agreement contained ideas
far in advance of the exclusive system of commercial legislation,
pith which every country was fettered in the eighiteenth century.
The most important were the first two clauses. The {irst of
Rhese provided that the subjects of France were to pay no other
buties in American ports than Americans paid, and were to enjoy
lall the rights and privileges in navigation and commerce between
Ehe two countriea; which the Americans themselves enjoyed. The
Qecond clause secured these same rights to the citizens of the
United States in the ports of France and any west India Islands,
Wﬁich might be secured by France as a result of the war.33

The proposed plan was adopted by the two nations in the
treaty of February 6; 1778. The treaty when sigsned, however,

lcontained two clauses, which, had they remained, would have been

32 ;bid. » 39*-!#0'

33 George F. Zook, "Proposals for a New Commercial
Treaty Between France and the United States, 1778-1793," South

jAtlantic Quarterly, 1909, VIII, 268,
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of great importance to cormercial interests. The first of tﬁese
provided that no duty should ever be laid upon the exportation

of molasses from the French West Indies to the United States.

In return for this favor, which would have been so important to
the Northern States, it was a;weed that no duties should be im-
posed upon any kind of merchandise exported from the United
States to the West Indies. Jince the policy of taxing exports
from the States was not contemplated, it seems as if the conces=
Lion made by the Fepench was a valuable pift. It was not so re-
Fﬂrded by Arthur Lee, one of the American commissioners, and
Ralph Izard, both prominent men from the South, who were disposed
o think the bargain favored Northern interests at the expense

Pf all others, The opposition of these men was 8o bitter that it
fas decided to sacrifice both exemptions, and the treaty as

finally ratified did not contain these two clauses. >

34 Ibid., 269.




CHAPTER V

FRENCH NAVAL ACTION IN
THE WEST INDIES

When the French government, at last; resolved to take
an active part in the war; a fleet under Charles Henry Count
d'Estaing; was sent out from Toulon on the 13th of April, 1778,
with orders to attack any fleet bound to or from America. At
the s ame time they prepared to send out another fleet from Brest;
under Count d'Crvilliers. The first hostility took place off
the coasts of Brittany, the gethg;_'g; of Keppel's fleet, having
on the 17th of June begun the war by attacking the Belle Poule,

a French vessel of equal force, commanded by the brave La Cloche~
terie; who distinguished himself in the first, to die fighting
most gallantly in the last battle of the war. This led to a
fiercely contested, but indecisive action off Ushant, on the

2lst of July 1778, between the English fleet under Keppel, and

100
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the French fleet under the Count d'Orvilliers.l

Meanwhile the Count d'Estaing ran across the Atlantic
and began hostilities on the 30th of June, by capturing an Englisl
vessel off Bermuda. On the 5th of the next month, the frigate
Cnoagzeante of his fleet took the English frigate ose; the first
real capture in the war. An unfortunate delay prevented his
blockading Howe in the Delaware and he appeared off Sandy HooR
July 11, to be abandoned by pilots, and outgeneraled by Howe, who
prevented d’Estaing; misled too by Tory pilots, from entering
when he might in fact have sailed up to the city and closed the
war, D'Egstaing then devised s plan with Lafayette and Sullivan
to take Rhode Island, He ran into Newport and compelled the
Engligh to destroy their vessels there. Just as operations were
about to begin Howe appeared; D'Egtaing went out to meet him,
Howe avoided an action, a storm came on, d'Estaing's fleet suf-
fered, and abandoning the seige of Newpert to the great dissatis-
faction of Sullivan, he sailed to Boston to repair,

Leaving Boston he allowed Hotham's squadron from New
York to go, almost before his eyes, to Barbadoes. Proceeding to
Quadaloupe; in December he engaged Barrington, but failed to
capture his small aquadrcn, and saw his arms repulsed with loss

in his attack on St., Lucia, December 18,

1 J. D. G. Shea, ggu Operatio of the Fre ¢ Fleeg
Under the Count De Grasse, in 1781-82, New York, 1
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The next year, having been reinforced by four vessels
under de Grasse; he reduced the islands of Saint Martin, St.
Bartholomew, and 3t. Vincent. On the last day of June, he sailed
from Fort Royal with twenty-five vessels of the line, and two
frigates, and early in July, after a sharp action, reduced Grana=-
da. On the sixth; a very sharp engagement took place between
d'Estalng and Byron, in which the latter suffered severely.

The next operation of Count d'Estaing was another attacld
on an English post in the United 3tates. Savannah was assailed
on the 9th of October; by American and French traops; the former
under Lincoln; the latter led by d'Estaing in person. In spite
of the valor of the allies; they were repulsed with heavy loss.
Thus ended the naval and military campaign of d'Estaing, from
which the Americans had expected much and obtained nathing.z

The campaign carried on in the West Indies had no
special effect on the progress of the war, D'Egtaing was a man
of much bravery and of some energy, but he could not handle ships
with the skill of one whose life had been spent on the sea.
Little was accomplished for some months., D'Estaing certainly
did not overestimate his successes, and he was never afraid to
tell the truth about himself, He wrote home in January, 1779;

that he had gone from one misfortune to another, and the King's

2 Ibidc » 15“170
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squadron had not even been able to retake Saint Lucia, "If I do
not entirely succumb under the weight of misfartune, which has
characterized the events of this ruinous campaign, I am none the
less filled with extreme regret not to have been more useful in
the service of the King."3

In the gummer of 1779 he was somewhat more fortunate.
The French captured Granada and Saint Vincent, and d'Bstaing
defeated the English under Lord Byron, who was by no means as
great an admiral as his nephew was a poet. Even then d'Estaing
was criticized, and perhaps Jjustly, because he did not utilize
his victory to the utmost; apparently, if he had possessed greater]
talent as a sailor; he might have destroyed the English fleet.
"If he had possessed as much sea~craft as bravery," wrote an
officer, "we would not have allowed four disabled vessels to make
their escape."h

The Count de Guichen, who succeeded to the command of
the French fleet in the West Indies, brought Rodney to action,
April 17; 1780, but the battle produced no result, and a similarlﬁ

indecisive action took place May 19.

' 3 James Breck Perkins, France in the American Revolu-
ti@!}, Bostm, 1911, 271"2720

4, Ibid., 273,
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In 1781, the Chevalier Destouches sent a part of his
fleet from Boston to the Chesapeake, under M, de Tilly, who
captured the Romulus, and several transports, but most of the
ll|onery's vessels ran up to Portamouth, Destouches himself then
“ iled to the Cheaapeake; and had a spirited action with Graves,
in which he put three of the English vessels hors de combat.
% De Ternay; who brought another French squadron across the Atlan-
tic, allowed an English squadron to escape from him, and died of
Ml ortification soon after his arrival.?
Such had been the main operations of the French navy

in American waters up to the time of the campaign of the Count de

in the dangerous waters of the West Indian Archipelago, and waste

their strength on the reduction of petty islands, when a conti=
nent was at stake; is not easily explained. The tiﬁe was spent
in taking and retaking small and unimportant isles, the posses-
sion of which was of not strategic importance, In the war on
the Continent, the operations at Newport and Savannah, both
entire failures, and the operations of Destouches in the Chesa-

peake, alone show the intervention of our transatlantic allies,

—

5 Shea, The Operation of the French Fleet Under the
fount de Grasge, 17-18.

trasse. That such fleets were sent by both governments to operatg
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and it is clear that the assistance rendered by the French navy
was of little moment, except in the fact that it gave occupation
to all England's fleets.6

Francois Joseph Paul de Grasse-iiouville, Count de Gras-
se, Marquis de Tilly; Lieutenant-General des Armees Navales was
born in 17233 but of his earlier career, even the biography pub=
lished by his son gives us no particulars. At the commencement
of the war with England brought on by the American Hevolution, he
was captain of the Robaste, and had been in active service, ap-
parently in her, since 1775. With that vessel he took an active
part in the naval engagement fought off Quessant in July, 1778.
In the following year, still in the same vessel, he sailed as
“chnf«d'escadre", or commodore, from Brest with four ships of the
line, and anchored in the road of Fort Royal, February 20, 1779.
He shared in the triumphs and reverses of d‘'Estaing's campaign,
in the reduction of Granada; in the seige of Savannah; after
which he sailed to the West Indies with a portion of the fleet.
Here he distinguished himself in 1780, under de Guichen, in his
engagements with HRodney, rescuing the Sphynx and Artesien from a
superior English force, Declining the command of the squadron on
the ground of health, he returned to France, where he was raised

by the king to the rank of lieutenant-general or admiral, and

6 Ibid' {2 180
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invested with the command of the fleet in the West Indies, which
d'Estaing and de Guichen had hitherto directed with judgment;
though not with brilliant success. The elevation of de Grasse
gave offense to many officers in the navy; and involved him in
difficulties which ultimately dirmmed by a fateful reverse, the
laurels won in the earlier part of his naval campaigx.'?

The West Indies were the chiefl object of de Grasse's
mruise; and any expedition to the United States was regarded as
of secondary interest. As a matter of fact, the fleet accomplish~
Fd little during its first stay among the islands; and met with s
%eriaus disaster the following year, while the expedition to the
Chesapeake ended a long an¢ momentous contest.8
The King's fleet, commanded by Lieutenant-General Count
de Grasse-Tilly, set sail on Thursday, March 22, 1781, with a

convoy of two hundred and fifty ships valued at thirty million

livres.9

The following account of the action of the French fleet

fin the West Indies is based on "A Journal of the Cruise of the

8 Perkins, France in the American Revolution, 357.

-9 Shea, QOperationg of the French Fleet Under the Count
;g Gra e, 30. ,
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Fleet of His Host Chr?stian Majesty; under the command of the
Count de Grasse-Tilly, in 1781 and 1782, by the Chevalier de
Goussencourt," edited by J. D. G. Shea in the book, The Oggrgtiggg
of the French Fleet Under the Count De Grasse in 1781-1782.

On Sunday, April 29, 1781, a French Ffleet of twenty
ships of the line sgighted an English fleet of eighteen ships
of the line and five frigates off the shores of Martinique.
The French vessel, the Languedoe, fired on the enemy, but
missed. Having seen the strength of the French, and losing
hope of capturing any vessels, the English came omn a tack
similar to the French. The French gave chase, but were
becalmed. Four English vessels ran afoul of each other and
became separated from the fleet. Some of the French com-
manders thought they should be captured but ¥, de Grasse
paid no attention to it. No other of{ficer would take the
reaponsibility. The French then anchored at Fort Royal,
Martinique., All efforts to enguge Admiral Hood failed. The
action lasted five and a half hours. The French lost one
officer killed, one dangerously wounded, and one hundred and
fifty men killed or wounded. Hood tried in vain to enter St.
Lucia, but was prevented from doing so by the French., HRod=-
ney was then engaged in pillaging St. Eustatius, The French
pursued the English ineffectually for three days. The fact
that M. de Graasse let four vessels escape which might have
been capture led to a dispute at 3t. Pierre between several
Prench naval officers., This was the origin of an ill feeling
that afterwards prevailed in the fleet.

The chage of the English having taken them quite some
distance to the leeward, it took the French until May 6 to
regain the island of HMartinique. They set sall on the eighth
for the channel of St. Lucia. On May 15, they anchored in
the roadstead of 3t. Luecia, in Gros Islet Bay, where the
battery kept up an ineffectual fire.

On the morning of the 1l6th, the long boats and barges
went ashore to bring off the troops there and the prisoners
they had taken amounting to one hundred and fifty men and two
officers, . de Bouille saw that the siege of Morne Fortune
would require an army of twenty thousand men. The English
made no greater opposition to their reembarkation than they
had to the landing of the French troops.
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At daybreak on the 29th, having discovered Tobago on
one side, and seven English vessels and five frigates on
the other, the French give chase but to no purpose. In the
evening the Aigrette asked leave to give chase, and took a
brig of ten pguns,

On the 31lst, being near Tobago, the Prench sighted
several ghips. They hoisted the English flag and the ships
threw themselves into thelr hands. A slaver, with two hun-
dred and {ifty negroes on board, and several smaller vessels
were captured in the same way.

Late in the afternoon of June 2, the fleet anchored off
Tobago. This igland had surrendered the previous evening to
M. De Bouille, who had landed with eight hundred men three
days before. The capture of Tobago cost the French only
three men. They took ten officers and three hundred and
sixty men, and left a garrison of eighteen hundred men, arms
and money.

The next afternoon they set sail again, the G;o;ieg§
cet . t

and the JSt, ngigit having discovered the enemy
was Rodney coming to the relief of Tobago, but learning that

it was taken, he would not hazard an action that could re-
sult only in mutual slaughter, because the fleets were of
equal force, M. de Grasse, on the contrary, sought to en~

gage the English; but being to leeward, he could not overtak#

them.

The chase of the IEnglish having made them fall considers

ably to leeward, on the morning of June &, the French admiralf

asked for the bearings of several vessels because little at-
tention had been paid to the route they had taken. At noon
they discovered that they were near Granada, where they
anchored on the tenth of June.

On June 13, the fleet again set sail and lay to before -
St. Vincent, where they waited for the general of the troops,
who had gone there the day before,

On July 5, the fleet and its convoy of over two hundred
vessels set sall for Granadina in search of the Hector and a
convoy of fifteen sail., After making the junction, they
steered for Cape Francois, while the English, coming from
Barbadoes, steered for Jamaica, from which Rodney sailed
with his treasure to England,
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On the 1l4th, Cormmander de Glandevese was detached with
four vessels to cruise around St. Domingo and the small
isles adjacent to the leeward, and to relieve the Action-

aire which was bigckaded by two English ships of the line
an% two frigates,

The following account of the preparations for the Yorke
town affair is written in diary form and is based on "A Journal
of the Cruise of the Fleet of His Most Christian Majesty, Under

the Command of the Count de Grasse-Tilly, in 1781 and 1782 by
the Chevalier de Goussencourt," edited by J. D. G. Shea in the

book, The Operationg of the French Fleet Under the Count De
Gr§8§8 M L?8;~&28 .

July 30th, ordet to hold ourselves in readiness to sail
and to ship cannons, mortars, and all necessary to make a
regular siege., The same day we took on board our vessel the
regiments of Gatinon, now Royal Auvergne, Agencis, Touraine,
and a detachment of iauzun's legion.

August 5th, all being ready, the signal was given to
unmoor, and on the 6th at 4 A.M., to loose sail. Our fleet
numbered twenty-four vessels, and the wonder is that every-
body, the English included, knew where we were going, while
we had not even conjecture as to the operation that our
adniral was about to take.,

On the 7th, the commander, de Glandevese, who had
sailed around tﬁe island to leeward, Jjoined us with the

Burgoyne and the Hect%r. The Actionnaire, which had come
witﬁ tie commander's five vessels, anchored on the 8th at
the cape.

10 Ibid., 42-55.
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On the 10th, the light squadron gave chase to the English
frigate which had chased the %e and forced her to put in at
the Mole St. Nicolas, after she had fought three tinmes; first
with a frigate, which she sunk; next with a fifty gun vesg=
sel, which she cut up considerably by a maneuvre which ex=-
cited the admiration of the enemy.

On the 1lth, we entered the old channel and took in a
-Spanish coast pilot coming from Baracao, a town lying on the
northern coast of the island of Cuba, fhe passage of this
channel is justly considered a very dangerous spot. We were
go happy as to spend three days in the narrowest part of the
pass, which is surrounded by reefs on every side, experienc-
ing an unsupportable contrariety of winds.

At thig period we flattered ourselves that we should be=-
hold the superb city of Havanna, the capital of the island of
Cuba, and the richest and strongest place in Americaj; the
Spaniards having added considerably to its fortifications
since the last war. The Algrette alone went there, and
brought off four millions, which served as an excuse for the
seventeen men of war there, not to accompany us on the ex-
pedition we had on hand. is it not a shame for these vessels
to be rotting two years in port? It is only a nation as
cowardly as the Spaniard that can wallow so in inaction,
leaving its allies to bear the brunt of the war,

On the 18th, we lay to off Mstanzas, three leapues from
that town, and about thirty from Havanna, We sent our pilots
ashore, and entered the Bahama channel, into which the cur=-
rents carried us. At this point, being in order, we learned
that the projected expedition was to the Chesapeake. Here
the charming maritime ill-temper displayed itself in all its
beauty, for they closed the council-chamber door on the
zentlemen of the Royal Auvergme, commanded by M. de Tourville%
who could not help taking up the silly remarks they passed

on the Count d'Estaing.

On the 24th, we took three English vessels; one of
which, commanded by a lieutenant in the navy, carried sixteen
six~pounders and eight eighteen-pound howitzers. . . . The
smaller of the other two was carrying te England a general
of ficer who had commanded at Savannah and Charleston, which
he had left a week before, and who enjoyed the highest repu-
tation. All these vessels, and those subsequently taken off
this coast were loaded with merchandise for Europe.
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On the 28th, the fleet anchored three leagues from the
roadstead of the Chesapeake, according to the advice of
the coast pilots whom we had on board. Ve had not vet seen
any land, which here lies very low.

On the 29th, we anchored in three columns, in the
entrance of the roadstead, after chasing a number of vessels
that we could not make out. You will not peihaps be as=-
tonished to learn in what security the English live., Having
anchored and displayed our flag, we were approached by a
boat in which was one of the principal citizens of Virginia,

and one of them who spoke English well, told them to cone on
board, which they did at once. But what was their surprise
to see only infantry in white uniforms. They were taken

to the main cabin where we were at dinner, and where the
captain informed them that they were prisoners, ordering
them to be well treated. The boat was taken, and found to
contain excellent melons and many other riireshmants,

which were eaten in honor of Lord Hodney,

The greatest French contribution to the success of the
American Revolution was the naval support which the French fleet;
under the Count De Grasse gave to the land forces, under Washinge~
ton and Rochambeau in the Battle of Yorktown., This action will
be discussed later in this study.

11 Ibid., 61-65.

who asked where Lord iodney was. The sailors on deck hailed}




CHAPTER VI

THE {OLE OF THE FRENCH WEST INDIAN
FLEET IN TH: SURAENDER AT
YORKTOWN

Before the campaign at Yorktown the French West Indian:
fleet accomplished very little in a military way. It served
merely to keep the British fleet occupied and away from colonial
shores.

A large share of the credit for the capture of Yorktown
belongs to the Count de Grasse who performed his part with great
exactitude, He prevented the English from relieving Cornwallis,
and brought an important reenforcement to the land forces, If
hig fleet had not arrived promptly and remained until the work
was done the capture of Yorktown would have been impossible.

Rochambeau wrote in the spring and early summer telling
of the needs of the American army and asked for pronpt cooperatio
against the common foe. De Grasse proceeded to take energetic
steps to answer these calls for help. There wss no definite plan

worked out for him, He acted upon his own responsibility in
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transporting a body of soldiers to Virginia to the West Indies.
He had to negotiate with the Spaniards who had not interest in
the American allies of France. He even had to risk the disapprow-
al of his own government,

When he arrived at Cape Haytien on July 16 he found the
letters of Kochambeau and the French minister stating the impore
tance of prompt ald to the American cause. At once he tried to
meet these requests to the best of his ability. A large force
of French troops was stationed at Saint Domingue, but the French
government had agreed that they should be at the disposition of
Spain and were to be used for an expedition to Florida. The
Spanish admiral was not ready for the Florida campaign and wanted
to postpone it until winter. De Grasse took advantage of this
and asked the French governor to lend him these troops in the
meantime, This was a bold step. If the troops he borrowed were
not returned to Saint Domingue in time to embark for Florida when
the Spanish asked for them, de Grasse had to incur the risk of
severe censure by his own government. He was able to persuade
the governor that these troops could be spared for two or three
months.

It was decided that thirty-four hundred men could be
spared from Saint Domingue until November; although this was not
the five thousand suggested by Hochambeau. They were borrowed

from the governor with the express promise that they should be
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returned by that time., Since Spanish ships were to keep guard
of the island, the Spanish indirectly were rendering assistance
to the colonists whose allies they had refused to become.l

De Grasse found it hard to obtain any money, and the
amount Rochambeau asked for was utterly impossible to raise., He
tried; unsuccaasfully; to borrow from some of the merchants at
Santo Domingo; even though he offered to pledge his own estate
as security for repayment. He then went to Havana to see if he
would be more successful there, He found seventeen Spanish men-
of »war lying peaceably at that port, with the customary inactive
ity of Spanish warfare., Perkins quotes an earlier historian, in
this way:

Is it not a shame for these vessels to lie rotting two years
in port? It is only a nation as cowardly as the Spanish

that can wallow so in inagtion, leaving its allies to bear
all the brunt of the war,

If the fleet remained inactive, the Spanish furnished
de Grasse four million livres in cash, which was more useful than
the cooperation of their ships. It furnished the needs of his

fleet and left a large surplus which he gave his assoclates in

1 Perkins; France in the American Revolution, 376-378.

2 Shea,mmu%aﬁmmmmmw the
Count de Grasse, in 1781-1782, 63.
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America., Having obtained the necessary money and having the

fleet off Havana, their destination was publicly announced,

After a voyape of twenty-three days, de Grasse's fleet
anchored off the roadstead of Chesapeake Bay on August 28, The
The troops were landed at Jamestown Island on September 4 and 5,
Cornwallis made no attempt to prevent the landing. An enterpris-
ing general might have attacked the French in the confusion of
disembarking, but the British left them undisturbed. They joined
the forces under. Lafayette, who now had an army of seven thousand
men.3

In the meantime; Clinton was pugzzled as to how to meet
Washington's threat against New York, In a letter written to
Germain in London; Clinton remarked that; since Admiral Graves
had taken the fleet away from New York; he would write to Admiral
Redney; the British commander in the West Indies, to watch de
Grasse. He feared that the French fleet would slip away from
the West Indies and come north to cooperate with Washington in
an attack on New York, ODlinton adds this prophetic remark:

"Por I must beg leave to repeat to your Lordship that if the

3 Perkins, France in the American Revolution, 378¢379.
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Enemy remain only a few weeks superior at sea, owr insular and
detached situation will become very eritical,"¥ One must under-
stand "insular® in its older meaning of "isolated." He complains
to Germain that he has not heard from London for four months. No
wonder he felt "insular."

In the early summer of 1781 the royal navy had many
notable admirals, but none was available at New York, Hyde,
Parker; Kempenfelt; Darby; and Shaldhamwere kept busy defending
the homeland because bf threats upon the coast of England by
France and Holland. The next most important work was in the West
Indies. Admirals Rodney and Hood were responsible for defending
the Sugar Islands, where so many English families had heavy in-
vestments. Besides; they had to watch de Grasse, New York was
relatively unimportant.

Admiral Rodney at the West India station, as was ex-
plained earliar; had been busy for some time with the combined
pleasure and duty of looting the Dutch island of St. Hustatius.
The consequences of this act proved very annoying because Rodney'&
ruthlessness made no distinction between British and enemy goods.
When he finally sent thirty shiploads of plunder to England, the

French naval commander, La Motte~Picquet, dashed out from Brest

4 Randolph G, Adams, "A View of Cornwallis' Surrender
at Yorktown," American Historical Review, New York, 1931 XXXVII,
29,
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and captured twenty-six of the convoy. Therefore, Rodney had
other things on his mind besides watching de Grasse.

Hodney learned, on July 7, that de Grasse, who was
supposed to be at Martinique, had left there with thirty-six ware
ships. His informant did not know where they were going. Adams
givea this account of Rodney's attempt to Jjustify his actions:

In order to clear himself afterwards, Hodney gaid that
upon receipt of this intelligence he had specifically
warned the admiral at New York that de Grasse had sailed
for Cape Francois (to pick up more troops and supplies),
and was thence bound for the Chesapeake; therefore, let
the admiral at New York beware, If any such diapa%ch had
actually been sent, and had actually been received at New
York, both Graves and Clinton might have been forewarned,
But they were not--for two reasons, First, Hodney never
sent such a message, what he really wrote on July 7 was
that de CGrasse had left Martinique, that Rodney did not
know whether he had gone to Cape Francois, but that he was
destined to sail to MAmerieca,” without specifying the
Chesapeake. This made a great deal of difference, because
Clinton and Graves expected de Grasse to come north, but the
word "America," instead of "Chesapeake" would simply confirm
Clinton and Graves in their opinion that de Grasse was com-
ing to cooperate with Washington in the attack on New York,
The second reason that Clinton had not been forewarned was
this: the dispatch, even in its vastly different form, was
entrusted to Captain Wells of the sloop Swallow. Wells
reached New York safely, but as the dispatch was addressed
to the Admiral, and Graves was absent cruising off Boston,
Wells started to follow him, when, off the coast of Long
Island, an American privateer moved into sight. Wells
could not resigt the temptation to punish the impudent Yankee
skipper. The result was precisely opposite of what Wells
intended, because three more impudent Yankees sailed up, and
Wells, carrying important dispatches, which he had no right
to jeopardize, was coumpelled to destory them and beach the
Swgl%gw on Long Island, GOraves dig not receive Hodney's news]
until six weeks after it was sent.

5 ZIbid., 33-34.
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It has been oba@rved that Rodney received information
to the effect that de Grasse was bound for Santo Domingo. Two |
days later Hood was ordered by Hodney to take eight ships to
Antiqua to refit and to sail with them to reenforce Graves at
New York, because de Grasse was probably on the way to Jjoin
Barras at Newport, Soon after this Rodney became very ill; and
he ordered Admiral Drake to take command in the Leeward Islands
while he returned to England for his health., Hood was sent to
New York. When Ro&ney learned that a cahvoy of merchant vessels
bound for Jamaica was nearby; he ordered Hood te\take twenty~-four
ships; instead of eight; and conduct the convoy safely to Jamaica
before going north t¢ join Graves, A week later, Rodney, deceived
by some discontented British subjects, sent Admiral Drake on a
hild goose chase to Saint Lucia with six ships to attack a French
force that did not exist. Rodney had only himself to blame if

tis conduct at 3St, Bustatius turnéd those who might otherwise have
een loyal azainst him. He was forced by illness to return to

Fngland on August 1, .
It is probably fair to say that the British had no real
idea of the Franco-American plans, They were as puzzled as the
Americans in regard to de Grasse's purpose, They thought that the
French admiral might come north; but they had no idea when or with

6 Ibid., 34-35.
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Lhat numbers, Unfortunately for them, they assumed that de Grasse

[as bringing only a few vessels. Clinton should have been thinke
ng this out. On July 28 he sent a routine dispatch to Germain

aying that he understood that de Grasse had left Martinique and
| Eighﬁ be expected off New York at any time; but; since Rodney
é %aa following him; there was nothing to worry about,
| Admiral Hood; off Antigua; received some real news on
%ugust 3. Just before he sailed'far England, Rodney had received
Lthe information that thirty American pilots for the Delaware and

Chesapeake had arrived at Cape Francois, the French sector of
banto Domingo. It was there that de Grasse was going. Rodney

informed Hood without comment. Hood, seeing how important this

as, sent the sloop, Agggxg, to warn Graves at New York. Luck

Iaa with the Americana; for the Active was captured and taken into
Philadelphia. The significance of pilots for the Chesapeake was
lost.7

In mid-August Clinton,~somewhat recovered in spirits;

;] g$uggested to Graves that; since de Grasse could not possibly ar-

i five for another week or ten days, they might try agaln to attack
1 Yewport. Upon receiving this suggestion Graves decided that two

$hips needed repairs., He believed that the story of de Grasse's

7 1bid., 35-37.
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coming was merely the product of a "heated imagination," Even if
de Grasse did come, it would be only with a few vessels to replacq
those which Barras was sending back to France to refit. Clinton
might get something done at last when Graves's ships were re-
paired. On August 18; he had three thousand men ready to embark;
and could go to Newport on twenty-four hours notice. However, it
took two days more to repair the ships. Then; on August 20,
Clinton had an attack of blindness.s

On August 19; Adjutant General Delancy received three
digpatches from the British scout Marquard. In the first, write
ten in the morning; he announced that he had positive information
from one of his woman agents that the French had struck camp and
were marching for North Castle and that Washington was preparing
to cross the Hudson at Dobbs Ferry. The second dispatch, written
in the afternoon, confirmed the first but could not guess which
way the Franco-American forces were going. The third diapatch;
written when the female informant reached Marquard's headquarters
in the evening; was equally confusing as to why and where Wash=
ington was going. On August 18, Lieutenant-Colonel Wurmb of the
Jagers had positive information that "an American woman, who was
the migtress of a French officer of distinction; had been in=-

structed to go to Trenton."? Thus, although he had been warned

i i, S

¢ Ibtd., 37-38.

9 Ibid., 39.
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from two directions, one of which was rather close to the French
high command; Clinton took no action. On the twentieth, Delancey
received three more notes. Wurmb reported that the Americans
had certainly crossed the Hudson. According to Marquard, rebel
baggage and heavy artillery were going across. Captain Beckwith
could not be certain what the Americans were planning, but he was
sure that their whole plan had suddenly undergone a drastic
change, From this it seems that the British intelligence was

working, but not very well, The information made very little

E impression at headquarter&.l0

Graves went on repairing his ships. On August 21, he

reported to Clinton that he had just heard that Barras was pre-

paring to leave Rhode Island. Clinton reported that he had re-
liable information that de Grasse was bringing only a few ships
north, HNeither Graves nor Clinton had any idea of Barras'!s des-
; tination. It seems odd that they could not have realized that
Barras was going to join de Grasse. By August 22, Cornwallis;
having reached Yorktown; was 80 bugsy digging in that he informed
Clinton that he could spare no troops for another six weeks.
Lord Cornwallis was alarmed because of three factors, First;
Wiayne and Lafayette had in some way been reenforced., Second,

a mob of Loyalist refugees, who had been following him from

10 Xbidn s 39"1}‘0t
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Portsmouth, were consuming his supplies more rapidly than he

iked., Third, although Clinton had sent three thousand entrench-
tng tools south; Cornwallis's engineer's records showed only nine
wndred and ninety-two while less than four hundred could actually
be located by the $torekeeper.ll
Admiral Hood arrived with his ships of the British
lest India squadron on August 24 He had seen nothing of de
irasse and did not know where he was. The British probably were
bongratulating themselves that Hood arrived at New York before
?e Grasgse. Marquard; the acout; sent word to Delancey that the
French had now crossed the Hudson, that for tlree successive
pights they had moved their camp, and that Washington was carry-
inz flatboats, for what purpose, the scout did not guesa-lz
Graves decided that; with the addition of Hood's fleet;
pis force was superior to the French, On August 31, he put out
to sea to seek and punish Barras's little fleet, even though it
pisght have been joined by a few vessels from de Orasse's West
India squadron, Cornwallis; that same day; learned that between
thirty and forty ships had come inside the capes of the Chesa-
#eake; but he did not say what they were.

11 Ibid., 40.
12 Ib;dq, I.}Onipl.
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Clinton was certain that Cornwallis need not fear the
French fleet because Hood and Graves would take care of it,
These two brilliant admirals, however, failed and failed badly.,
Believing de Grasse had only a few ships; they found him to have
a fleet that outnumbered the combined fleets of Graves and Hood,
A naval battle was fought off the capes of Virginia on Septem=-
ber 5. Some authorities have called this battle Mindecisive.,"
However, Adams believes that few naval actions in history have
decided more, Gravea; handling his fleet badly, got only a part |
of his force into the action and was severely damaged by de Gras~
se, Both fleets maneuvered for position after the fight and it
seems that Graves was actually nearer to Yorktown than de Grasse
at one time. Graves put out to sea instead of taking advantage
of his position to rush in and rescue Cornwallis. Hodd lost
contact with de Grasse and, on September 10, wrote to Graves
asking him if he knew where the French fleet might be.lB Graves
didnt't know either, It was three days before he replied that the

French fleet was at anchor in the Chesapeake and asked Hood's
opinion as to what to do with the fleet, Hood's reply was equally
futile: %Sir Samuel would be very glad to send an opinion, but
he really knows not what to say in the truly lamentable state

13 Ibid., 42.




124

we have brought ourselves," % It was decided at a council of
war, held at sea, that, because of the damaged state of the
fleet, the coming equinoxial storms, and the impossibility of
helping Cornwallis, the British fleet shaul& return to New York
to refit. Because Barras had gone-iﬁto ﬁhe Chesapeake with the
Newport squadron and de Grasse was étronger than ever, it was
impossible to help Cornwallis now. HNow Graves understood why
Barras had left Rhode Island.

While Clinton waited; it took Graves two weeks to
reach New York after the action off the Chesapeake. In the mean-
time, Commodore Affleck represented the navy at a council of war
called by Clinton on September 17. The somewhat hysterical nae
ture of this conference may be detected by reading between the
lines of the minutes. Affleck wanted to take five thouasand men
and convoy them in a single ship of the line to Yorktown. How
he proposed to get this last hope through the entire French fleet
|does not appear., General Leslie, frantlc at the delay, wanted
|something, anything; done at once. General Robertson; objecting
to haste, suggested that they wait not only for Graves, but for
the added naval forces being sent from England under Admiral
IpPigby. The traitor Arnold was called in to another war council
phich was called the next day. It was apgreed that they should
wait for Graves; Hoed; and Digby, since Cornwallis had eight

:}Jb Ib;gc s li-B .
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thousand men with provisions for ten thousand to the end of

October. On the fifteenth, Graves reported that his damaged
fleet was on its way back to Sandy Hook., He added sadly that
the French controlled the Chesapeake, and that nothing could be
gotten into Cornwallis except at night, His fleet was huddled
together for fear that the French cruisers might cut out the
straggling veasels.15

CGraves finally arrived back in New York with his badly
damaged fleet on September 19, It certainly was in no condition
to set sail immediately convoying troops to Cornwallis and to
attempt to break through the entire French fleet in the process.
Because it took ten days to determine what repairs were needed,
it was not until the twenty-third that ten ships were gent to the
vards and work begun. That same day another council of war for
the general officers was éalled by Clinton. They reached the
rather obvious conclusion that the only thing that could save
Cornwallis was a direct move by the army and navy, This
necessitated the calling of another council at which the flag as
well as the general officers were to be present. They met the
next day and decided to put the troops on the "King's Ships,"
that is; the royal navy not the transports, and send word to Corn-
wallis that they would start south by October 5.

15 Mi; L3=llys
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Admiral Dibgy arrived that same day at Sandy Hook with
a small naval reenforcement which included Prince Wwilliam Henry,
destined to become King William IV of England. Almost a week
after he returned to New York, Graves discovered that there was
no lumber with which to repair his ships. Clinton had to send
over the wood which was to be uged for barracks at S5t. Lucia.
Then Graves found that he did not have the combustibles to pre-
pare fire ships, so Clinton had to open up the army ordnance
stores, On the wentye-gixth, Prince William landed and the next
two days were wasted in parties; parades, receptions, and
speeches.

A letter from Cornwallis stating that if he were not
speedily relieved; Clinton might expect to hear "the worst,"
reached New York on the twenty~third, Clinton interpreted this
to mean that Cornwallis would be forced to retreat out of harnm's
way. Three days later it occurred to him that the "worst" might
have another meaning; and he called a council of his general
officers. They expressed the opinion that the "worst" meant that
Cornwallis could not retreat, but would be forced to surrender,
Clinton sugrested a raid into New Jersey toward Philadelphia in
his anxiety to do something. This plan was wisely rejected on

the grdun%that the army should not be away when the ships should
be ready.

16 Ibid., 45.
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Dipby and Hood did not want the army and navy putting
out to sea without some idea of what they were to do when they
reached Virginia. Therefore, they sought out Clinton and began
asking questions., Dighy wanted to know if the navy were merely
to take the army within striking distance of Cornwallis and then
retire to a safe distance, Clinton rejected any such notioﬁ,
for how was he to feed that army without the fleet? Digby asked
again, how was the fleet to get out if by some miracle they
could get through de CGrasse's aﬁgmented fleet? They also doubted
if Graves would be able to sail on October 5 as he had promised,
Clinton called another council to discuss these points. They
agreed on only one thing, that, since Graves would not be ready
by October 5, Cornwallis should be notified to that effect.
Graves, confirming their fears, said that he would not be ready
before October 8,
Adams gives this picture of the discord at British
headquarters at New York:
Captain William Cornwallis of H, !, seventy~-four gun ship
was storming around because Oraves's delays were
mperiling his brother, Lord Charles Cornwallis at Yorktown.
Major Damer, Germain's friend, was one of the officers who
had been embarked, disembarked, and reembarked until he was
decidedly acid in his comments on Clinton's incapacity and
his failure to anticipate Washington's plans. William 3Smith
wrote that Clinton was a domineering trifler surrounded by
a gtaff of third-rate sycophants. Arnold was disgruntled on
many counts--the more so when he saw hisg advice being ig-

nored by the British as much as it ever had been by the
Americans, 0ld General Robertson relieved the tension by
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being "abandoned to Frivolity-~he has Parties of Girls in
the Fort Garden in the migst of his own Fears, and the
anxieties of this Hour, "+i

Clinton called another council of the flag and general
officers on September 30, when he learned that Graves could not
sail before October 8. It was agreed that, even though the
whole French fleet were between them and Cornwallis, they must
sail. The question was when. It became apparent that they would
again be delayed until October 12, VWhen the navy men withdrew;
the army men held a separate council at which it was decided to
inform Cornwallis of the new delays without telling the navy that
they had done so.

While the Americans tightened their lines about York=
town; the work on the ghips at New York went on. On October 3,
Washington was within eleven hundred yards of Cornwallis's works.
When Graves discovered that there was no powder fit for use on
board his own flagship; the ngggg; Clinton again patiently
opened up the army stores.

The next day; Clinton and Graves got into an unfortu~
nate argument. Oraves began it by reopening an old question of

whether the Sixty-ninth regiment belonged to the army or the navy

17 ZIbid., 45-46.
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Graves declared that 1t was needed for narine duty on Hood's
squadron, while Clinton insisted it was his, Then Graves asked
what was to be done with the troops embarked on the war vessels
if it were inpossible to relieve Cornwallis and Hood ghould have
to roeturn to his Vest Indis stations Was llood supposed to take
with him the troops carried on his vessels? Leaving the West
Indies ungusrded meant criticism in Prliament from the British
investing classes. This scemed to bother (raves more than Hacd;
but then Hand; in Adam's opinion, was probably an abler man than
his 8uperiar.18

On October 7, Clinton, writing to Graves, supggested
that if Hood had %o retwrn to the Vest Indies in a hurry, empty
transports should follow the fleet at sea., If they were unable
to relieve Cornwallis, then liood was to transfer the troops to
the transport at sea., OGraves sald he would present the matter to
a mecting of flap officers the next day. Digby and Clinton dee
cided that a neeting of flag and goneral officers was necegsary |
to iron out this difficulty. Dirby was to sec Graves and ask him
to come to army headquarters the next day for such a nmeeting,.
Graves, apparently angered at whot he thoupht was Clinton's

atteapt to order him around, had called a meeting of his own flag

18 Ibid., 40«47,
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officers for that day., On the morning of the meeting, he sent a

very stiff‘letter, written in the third person, in which he said
to Clinton, "Don't wait the meeting for me, as I shall not be
there, "9
At this meeting; even Hood was convinced by Graves's

behavior that he was going to make trouble and create difficule
ties for the army. Hood solved the problem of the traops on
board his ships by saying that the relief of Cornwallis was of
primary impartance; and that the West Indies would have to take
care of themselves., In reporting to a friend; Hood wrote this
to a friend:

I own to you I think very meanly of our present commanding \

officer (éraves Jo I know he is a "cunning" man, he may be

a good theoretical man, but he is certalnly a bad practical

one, and most clearly proved himself on the fifth of last |
month to be unequal to the conducting of a great squadrcn.zo

Clinton did not answer Graves's letter until the next
day, when he answered with tact and civility that the apparent
offense was a misconception.

Another council of generals was called to take up the
question of what to do with an army and a fleet which the French
would not permit to reach Yorktown, It was decided that they

would land either at Newport News or on Monday's Point, on the

19 Ibid., 47.
20 Ibid.
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north shore of the York river. An examination of the map wo.ld
show thgt it was impossible to land at either place. During the
meeting, a shift in the wind made it impossible to sail, even if
Graves had been ready.

The Americans were within six hundred yards of Corne
wallis's works on October 1l. They cut that down to three hun=-
dred yards on the twelfth, Heavy artillery was subjecting
Yorktown to a furious bombardment. Clinton wasted the fourteenth
in writing Cornwallis of his plans for landing the troops. He
assured Germain that the army of relief had already embarked.

On October 15, the fleet was still windbound at New York. That
same day Cornwallis wrote sadly that it was too late, if Clinton
came now he would risk losing his army too. 4nother council of
war was held on the sixteenth at which the generals saw the
futility of their landing plans. However, they were determined
to see the nmatter through and land on the even more inaccessible
Rappahannock., Cornwallis wrote to Washington the next day pro=-
posing a capitulation,

It was not until October 18 that the army and navy;
Clinton and Graves; and the all important wind, decided to play
together, The army for the relief of Yorktown proceeded only as
far as Sandy Hook when the tide turned against it., The armament
did not get to sea until the nineteenth. Clinton wrote to

Germain, from Graves's flagship, that he would be in time to save
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Cornwallis. However; in a private letter, he wrote in a way to
show that he knew that he was embarked on a hopeless expedition.
Even if they defeated de Grasse; whose fleet still outnumbered
the British; they would still have to deal with the combined
forces of Washington and Hochambeau. Clinton bitterly blamed
Germain for failing to send men and supplies and for misleading
him into believing that Rodney would take care of de Grasse.

Clinton and Graves reached the Chesapeake on October 24

only to find that Cornwallis had surrendered his army fivé days

earlier.21

The French viewpoint of this campaign is described in
diary form in The Operations of the French Fleet Under the Count

De Grasse in 1781-1782, edited by J. D. G. Shea:

September lst, our tréops got in boats and were landed
without the slightest molestation from the forces composing
the army of Lord Cornwallis, although he had a ship~of«the~
line, three frigates, and several small vessels. The
English general might have prevented us from doing anything,
and even repulsed us, had he not despised our small army.
At our first encampment it would have been annihilated if
attacked. Three days after, it formed a junction with the
army of M. de la Fayette, eighteen hundred strong, but who,
at the same time, received a reenforcement of eighteen hune
dred more Americans, making in all seventy-six hundred.

The English numbered eleven thousand men, Vhen told that
the French had landed, their general merely remarked that

21 MQ 9 48""21'9 .

y
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‘ he had been long expecting them, and was glad that they
3 had come. For all that, he soon had reason to repent it.<?2

The 2nd, the Aigrette arrived from the head of the bay
with several prigzes made by our different vessels, among
others by the g;ggéfgg, which gave chase to the § s Of
fifty puns, but co not get at her on account of ¢
shoals, and which was burnt during the siege of Yorktown.

The 3rd, four of our vessels were detached, and
stationed at the mouths of the rivers, by which we took a
considerable number of merchantmen, We were in the greatest
impatience in the consequence of the non-arrival of the
Concorde, a frigate of M, de Barras' squadron, which was to
announce to us the moment of the junction. In fact, we did
not know what to make of the delay; and some of the navy
officers, jealous of his merit, accused him of being a bad -
citizen, and of being unwilling to serve under M. de Grasse,
because he had, he said, his option to remain at Boston or
to join him. Already they wished to make him responsible
for the blunders the admiral was to commit. In these cire-
cumstances M. de Barras will be seen giving a rare example
of patriotism, which is unfortunately known only by name in
France, We were in the greatest uncertainity as to what |
was to happen, when our two frigates on guard outside :
signalled sails in sight. These soon proved to bhe English,
to the number of twenty-one men~of-war, two of them three- -
deckers, and five frigates. As g combat was deemed certain,
orders were given to hoist sail,.<3

At half-past eleven, orders were given to slip owr
cables, and leave the bouy; at noon, to clear decks, and to
form in order of speed, This, for a wonder, was pretty well
executed, for every vessel had a hundred men in the boats,
which had, as I have said, been landing owr troops. The
fleet formed in very bad order; for, to tell the truth,
there were only four vessels in line, the P%ﬁtg, the Bour-
ggﬁggﬁ the Marseillais, and the Diademe. e %gﬁ;gﬁgx
and the Caton came next, half a league to the lee of the

first, and the rest of the fleet a league taore to the lee

? 22 Shea, Editor, The Operati of the French Fleet'
| Ynder the Count de Grasse i1 T781-F983, Gbc
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of the latter, the Ville de Paris in the centre; the English
were in the best possible order, bowsprit to stern, bearing
down on us, and consequently to our windward. Admiral Graves
commanded, having under him Rear-Admirals Hood and Drake;
they made an immense number of sipgnals to each other before
engaging us. The English vessel, the Terrible, which was
pumping four pumps not feeling in a condition to take part
in the action, kept to the windward of the enemy's line,
athwart Drake, who signalled her to take her position, which
gshe lost sometiue in doing; but the rear-admiral soon per-
suaded her to take her place by sending her three cannon
balls. Then it was that they tacked to the larboard as we
did, and hoisted a great white flag astern; but they soon
struck it and hoisted their own, It was then five minutes
after three, and the head of our line was within rifle shot;
and, in fact, entirely separate from the rest of the flect;
a disab‘eeabie position. Then they poured their first
broadside into the ggfgech§, killin% the captain. That vese
sel soon bore away, as well as the _ﬂ%g, on which they kept
up a brisk fire. éhen M. de Grasse signalled to the vessels,
~at the head of the line, to bear away two points, which was
impracticable, as they were fightiny within gun-shot dis-
tance and wouid have got a very severe handing, had they
presented the stern. The four ships in the van found them-
selves, conscquently, cut off from the rest of the fleet, and
constantly engaged with seven or eight vessels at close
quarters; and the Diademe was constantly near Admiral Drake,
who set fire to her at every shot, the wadding entering her
side. This vessel was constantly engagzed with two and some-
times three vessels, The English would not cut off our van,
which they might perhaps have taken, and which they would, at
all events, have rendered past repair. They contented them-
selves simply with cutting up that part of our fleet which
kept up a digstant fight, the sailors of the Ville de Parig
having been the last to take part in the action. M. de Boue
gainville commanded our vanj but he was too far to leeward
and in no condition to relieve the Diademe, which could
gcarcely hold out, and was on the point of boarding the
p , commanded by the rear-admiral, who avoided her, ‘
en he turned all his fire on the zgfg;g;e, which he riddled,
so that the English had to sink her the next day. With all
this, this vessel was utterly unable to keep up the fight,
having only four thirty-six pounders &nd nine eipghteens fit
for use, and having all on board killed, wounded, or burnt.
At this juncture i, de Chabert, commanding the g%fgiﬁl
which had, for a long time, been engaged with the Engli
admiral, and who was himself wounded, seeing the imminent
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danger of the Diademe, hoisted sail and was soon in her wake
then he opened a terrible fire that the gentlemen of Albion
could not stand, and had to haul their wind. The contest
was kept to the centre for half an hour longer. For our
part we were 80 tired, that though within gu§~shot, the vans
no longer fired. At six, the battle closed. b

In thig affair we lost four hundred men and twelve
officera; the English came off with the loss of seven hun=
dred men, and many persons of distinction, We had to zo to
the assistance of the gigdegg immediately after the battls,
as she had lost one hundred and twenty men and had no sails
or rigging, having received one hundred and twenty-five ballq
in her hull, and twelve under the water line, We ghouid
have had to abandon her, had the sea run high, and do with
as the Inglish did with the zggr%blg. It is well to note
that there were only twenty~two French vessels in this en=
gagement, all badly manned, The enemy had twenty-one in
line, one of fifty guns and some frigate.

The English committed a great fault in this action. As
soon as we left the roads of the Chesapeake, they should
have entered and anchored. They were before the wind, and
by hugging Cape Charles they might easily have moored with
a apring in the cable, before we were formed in line and
ready to attack themj this would leave us no alternative,
but to grapple them, Otherwise our army would have run the
risk of being deprived of everythinpg, perhaps have been
captured even; our vessels, stationed at the York, Balti-

- more, and James rivers would have been taken, as well as all
the boats of the fleet, Hood wae in favor of running in
here as we shall see him do at 5t. Christopher'ts, but
Admiral Graves durst not. Another blunder that our enenies
made was their neglecting to cut off our four vessels at the
head, which they might perhaps nge taken, or at least cut
off %rom the rest of the fleet.

There is no reproach to be made to M. de (Grasse in thia

affair, except his not making in time the gignals to take
position in order of battle, and the blunder of not

24, Ibid., 69-72.
25 Ibid., 72-73.
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posting himself at the entrance of the bay and refusing to

fight. He committed a grosser blunder of this kind after-

wards; for, on this occasion, he might allege the fact that
he was waiting for Commodore de Barras, and that he exposed
him prodigously if he did not fight and force the enemy to

open the entrance to the anchorage of the Chesapeake,

On the 6th, we did not lose sight of the English, and
the wind having varied slightly, by maneuvering a great deal,
and the English little, we gained the weather-gage.

The 7th we still kept them in sight. On this day they
sank the Ie;r;b;e. In the eveningz we lost sight of then,
the sea beginning to run high and the wind increasing,our
admiral made us steer for the Chesapeake, We did not, how-
ever, make Cape Henry till the eleventh; and at the same
time we saw two English fripgates, the Irig and R d, each
of forty guns, chased by the rieux, as she came up with
the former ané engaed her at pistol shot distance; but she
had to haul off, she got so hardly used, JSeeing that they
held out so, several of our good sailors got at their heels;
the regt of the fleet Joined, and we poured in over two
hundred balls before they struck. We made the Count de
Barras, who had been at anchor in the roads for two days,
start out two vessels of his division, as he could not make
out which nation we belonged to. He had witnessed the
affair of the fifth, but being unable to distinguish the
French fleet, he had anchored in the roads, where we found
him, We dropped our anchors at six or seven in the evening,
well satisfied with our prizes, and especially to get our
‘boats again, which joined us this day, bringing back our
best men.

The 15th there came on board our fleet K. de Gustine, a
colonel of the regiment of Saintonge, commanding the van of
General Washington's army, composed of a thousand French
grenadiers, and as many American volunteers, He proceeded
to join M, De la Fayette, and announced the speedy arrival
of the combined armies o% France and America, with all
necessaries of war, and provisions; for owr troops suffered
for want of the latter.

On the 18th, the vessels bearing our soldiers arrived
by the Baltimore river, and the greater part of the army,
coasting along, and bringing from Philadelphia all that was
needed, and even more; for plenty always reigned in the
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camps, although this country had been completely devastated
by the Enpglish, The American general came on board the
Ville de Parig, where he had a long conference with M, de
Grasse, and the other two naval commanders, On his departe
ure he was saluted with thirteen guns, He joined his army,
twenty thousand strong, including Rochambeau's and La-
fayette's armies, I think that when Lord Cornwallis was
told of Mr; Washington's arrival, he did not say, "so much
thetgeﬁger," and must have laughed on the wrong side of hia
mouth.

The combined army having invested the English, they
retired to Yorktown, posting a large detachment at Glouces-
ter, a town on the other side of the river, and immediately
opposite York. The enemy had already put these two places
in a respect:ble astate of defence, and four redoubts pro-
tected the approaches, They thought proper, however, to
evacuate the smaller two, which were, too, Farther off. On
the 20th, Lord Cornwallis wished to cross the river, but was
prevente& by the fire of our frigates and other small craft,
chiefly prizes taken on that coast. As the wind became very
violent, M. de Grasse ran his fleet into the bay and anchore«
ed on a line, with springs on the cable., We all made our
repairs then more at ease and got water more conveniently.
It is worth remarking that we got it only by digzin four
or five feet in the sand. This country is so well wooded
that I saw on board the D;g%eme a piece of timber costing
twenty-eight francs, measuring thirty feet long and twenty
inches square. You may judge from this that we all made
our repairs easily and without sparing.

On the 30th, M. de CGrasse disembarked six hundred
marines from the vessels to reenforce M. de Choisy's corps.
They repulsed the enemy, and compelled them to retire to
(iloucester. The commanders had established such good com=-
munication that we heard from the camp every day, and were
even near enough to see what was going on; for we witnessed
the spectacle of the conflagration of an English fifty-gun
ship, set on fire by the French battery,

On the 18th of October, }M, de Barras was sent to the
camp in the admiral's place, and took part in the capitula=-
tion of the positions of Yorktown and Gloucester, and of

26 Ibid., 73-76.




cause

138

Lord Cornwallis's army, composed of eleven thousand men, an
army which had cormitted atrocities.?

The surrender at Yorktown cannot be traced to any singldg
. Adams atates'it in this way:

No one who has surveyed these sources can fail to be ine
pressed with the fact that the surrender at Yorktown, like
nost historic events, can not be traced to any single cause.
It was the result of interacting causes. Germain's wrong-
headed favoritism and his fallure to support his principal
commander; Cornwallis's mistaken belief that a British
victory was an American defeat; Clinton's failure to divine
the plans of Washington in time; the condition of Graves's
fleet after the battle with de Grasse off the capes of the
Chesapeake; Rodney's illness; Clinton's blindness; Graves's
incompetence; Hood's failure to keep track of de (Grasse~
all these explain something., Nothing, however, can detract
from the extraordinary patience and strategy of George Washw
ington, who after watching ill luck for five years, at the
last managed a campaign in which every essential element
functioned on time and in time, This story might wgll be
entitled, 'When Britain failed to muddle through.'?

town,

27 Igid.; 7678,

9 28 Adams, "A View of Cornwallis's Surrender at York-
" 49, ,




CLHAPTER VII
THE THEATY CF PARIS, 1783

By the terms of the Treaty of Paria; 1783, which ended
the War of the American Hevolution, the islands of the West In-
dies were returned to their former owners. The one exception to
this was the tiny island of Tobago which was ceded by the British
to France, This scems to be very litile compensation for the aid
sent througzh them to the American: rebels,

The secret of American success in the War of the Revoe
lution was cocperation. MNore spacifically; it was Franco~Amerie
can cooperations MNo permanent success was possible, no permanent
success was achiaveé; until practical coordination of effort was
brought about between the allied enemies of Great Britain.l

The treaties signed in 1783 affected primarily fowr
nationst Spain, France, England, and the United 3tates. From

1 Eligabeth 3, Kite, "The Significance of the Treaty,"
Ihe Ireaty of Paris of 1783, Washington, D. C., 1935, 25.
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the firat, Spain had lacked the necessary faith, disinterested-
ness, éhd consequently the vision; to enter wholeheartedly into
the Alliance. At the peace; signed by her and France with Enge-
land, she was forced to forego the chief object that had brought
her to tardy entrance into the war. That cherished object was
the reconquest of Gibraltar.2 To compensate her for this loss
Spain was allowed to retain Minorca and have all Flnrida; east
and weat; and Great Britain would keep Gibraltar.s

Bef'ore the Dutch could arrive at any agreement with the
British; the other parties had long since arranged final terms.
In vain; the ﬂutch; with only perfunctory support from the French
were clamoring for the restitution of alll captured colenies; for
outright recognition of the principles of the Armed Neutrality by
Great Britain; and for damages for captures during the war in vi-
olation of them. The British, on their part, firmly damandad
either Trincomalee, on the island of Ceylon, or Negapatan, on
the southeast coast of India opposite; the right to navigate
freely among the Dutch possessions of the East Indies; and the

2 mg_., 32.
3 Bemes, The Diplomacy of the American ml.&w,

246.
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humiliating;salute of the British flag on the high seas by all
the Dutch vesaels; as before the war., Finally, ?@rgennos noti-
fied the Dutch plenipotentiaries that he could wait no longer
for the relief from the financial expenditures that would come
to France with a final peace; that France and her alliea would
sign the definitive treaties on September 3rd. The Dﬁteh wara‘
forced to aapitulate.“ |

Looking at the final texts of the French and Spanish
treatiea; we do not find that Great Britain, once aeceptmng'eha
inevitable loss of the American colonies, fared so badly. She
was required tc cede the relatively unimportant island of Tobago
to France; but she received back all the other conquered pos-
sessions: Granada and the &anadims; Dominica; St. Ohriatapher;
Nevis, Montserrat., She yielded to France the slave-trading
preserve of the Senegal River; but retained cne on the Gambia,
She relinquished St. Pierre and Miquelon to provide France with
fishing bases in the Gulf of St. Lawrence, but clouded the ces-
sion with declarations making it difficult to fit them for naval
bases. She continued French fishing rights on stipulated caasﬁs
of Newfoundlan&; but in doing this she was recognizing, in new

waters, no more than France already has poasussed in others before]

L, Ibid., 2512524
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the war. In India the articles of peace were astonishingly
favorable to Great Britain, France gained no more than she had
before 1778, In fact; the British were able to conclude peace on
the principle that they first proposed, the independence of
America and the Treaty of Paris of 1763 as a fundamental basis;
with a few exchanges, and minor cessions in North America and
the eastern Mediterranean. To Spain, Great Britain gave up Minore
ca and the two Flaridaa; and agreed that the British wood-cutting
settlements on the "Spanish Continent" should be restricted to
a certain portion of the Honduran coast, between the Belize and
Hondo rivers, and this without derogation to Spanlish sovereignity

there; but George III retained Gibraltar and with it control of
the entrance to the Mediterranean so valuable in those future

wars when that sea was to be of vast importance to the preserva-
tion of the British‘Empire.5

The crowning result of the Treaty was England's uncone
ditional acknowledgment of American independence, Because of
conquests in the northwest under George Rogers Clark, the United
States secured much additional territory, and though it took
another short conflict, that of 1812, to shake loose England's

5 Zbid., 233.
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hold on those remote forts and to bring her to respect neutral
shipping, yet for more than a century rmutual goodfellowship has

existed between England‘and the United States.6

As for France, restored self-respect, readmittance to
her place of leadership in the councils of Europe; increased
prosperity at home through a widened sphere of activity and more
liberal trade regulatiqns, compensated her for the sacrofoces
Imade. Moraover; this heightened prestige, acquired by France
through the happy peace of 1783; so consolidated the nation that
|she weathered the storm which threatened to destory her after
1789, After successfully repelling all invadera; she was able
[co reestablish herself on lines compatible with the advancing
kivilization of.Europe in which she again took her place as

leader.7
As a result of the peace of 1783 the age-old enmity of

rance and England gradually abated. Hutual respect took its
lace, and today we see the two nations facing together the

problems that remain unsolved in the heart of Europe.8
As for the relations of America and France, the Comte

He Vergennes from the first had worked not for gratitude, knowing

6 Kite, "The Significance of the Treaty", 32,

7 Zibid., 33.
8 Ibid.
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full well that this is never to be expected from any nation,

least of all from republiecs. Instead, he worked for an abiding

peace,

It has been said that to understand is to prophesy. Looking
back over a period of & hundred and fifty years may we not
speak with confidence for the future? May we not say that
no mativer what passing clouds may lower, the peace and £00dw
fellowship between France and the United States can never

be broken by any war, because in the beginning the foundation]
stones were laid upon the eternal principles of Jjustice and
truth, and were cemanteg by faith, generosity, mutual under-
sﬁanding, and goodwill,

9 Ibid.




CHAPTER VIII
COHCLUSION

From the very beginning of the Revolutionary War, it
was quite evident that no success could be achieved without oute
side help. Since the colonists could not obtain what was needed
from England; they had to look elsewhere for supplies. Vhen the
Navigation Acts prevented them from openly tradiﬁg with the
neighbqring islands of the West Indies; the Americans learned to
carry on this trade illegally. It geemed only natural, there=~
fore; that they should turn in their need to the French and
Duteh West Indies.

6ne of the greatest needs was that of gunpowder. Be=-
cause the colonies did not have the materials necesgsary for its
manufacture; they had to import it from the West Indies. Almost
all of the sunpowder imported during the first months of the war
came through the island of St. Eustatius from Holland.

This tiny island; located in the middle of French and
British paaSessione; ﬁas not restricted in its trade by the
Dutch mother country. It was; therefore; able to trade with all
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nations and became the Dutch emporium in the West Indies. Gun~
powder and other supplies were sent to St. Eustatius and there
agents of the Thirteen Colonies would buy them and send it where
it was needed. The island was also used to relay messages fron
colonial representatives in Europe to the Continental Congress.
Colonial ships were allowed to anchor and trade at the island.
One of them; the Andrew Doria, saluted the fort on leaving the
harbor and had the salute returned. This was more than the
British could stand. When they received no satisfaction for
this insult and for its protest against the illegal trade, Enge-
land declared war,

Before they knew of the declaration of war; the Dutch
on St., Eustatius were ordered to surrender by the British admiral;
Lord Rodney. Because of his desire for reveng and profit, Rodney
spent more than three months stripping the island of all its
wealth, This worked to the advantage of the colonists, for it
enabled De Grasse to join the rest of the French fleet which was
going to the aid of Washington in the Battle of Yorktown.

The French VWest Indies, too; played a very definite
part in the Revolutionary War. In the first place, it was the
fear of losing her possessions in the West Indies which brought
Prance into the war on the side of the colonists. Because the
outcome of the war was very doubtful; the French did not

immediately give official recognition to the Americans. For this
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reason; it became necessary to devise an elaborate scheme for
[sending secret aid to the colonies. According to Beaumarchais's
plan, help; both arms and money, was sent to the colonies under
the name of Hortalez and Company. Supplies were to be sent to
this company in the West Indies and then sent to the colonies,
fhen, at laat; success was assured, France signed a Treaty of
Alliance with the colonies in 1778.

After the treaty was signed, France could send aid

penly to the Americans. Part of this official aid was the
rench West Indian fleet. The fleet accomplished very little in
he way of a major victory; its only accomplishment was that it
ngaged the British fleet in a few skirmisghes and kept it away
rom the NHorth American mainland. The greatest contribution of
he French fleet to the success of the Revolution was the naval
upport it gave to Washington at the Battle of Yorktown. Withe
hut this support it is doubtful if the siege of Yorktown would
have been successful,

With the surrender of Cornwallis at Yorktown British
hopes of regaining the lost colonies vanished. The treaty which
knded the war was signed at Paris in 1783. One would suppose
Lhat the British would want to punish the islands in the West
[[ndies for the secret aid, as well as the smuggling and illegal
brade; which they gave to the colonists. However, this was not

Lthe case, With the exception of the island of Tobago, the West




Indies returned to the status quo of 1776,

little reward for their great help.

148

This seemed very
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